Living well for longer: The economic argument for investing in the health and wellbeing of older people in Wales

Professor Rhiannon Tudor Edwards Dr Llinos Haf Spencer Lucy Bryning Bethany Fern Anthony





About this report and the approach we have taken

This is the second in a series of reports making the economic argument for investing in prevention at different stages of the life course. In our last report we presented the economic argument for investing in Early Years across Wales, in this report we turn to older people. In the final report in this series we will explore the economic argument for investing in work and health in Wales.

This independent report was commissioned by Public Health Wales to explore the economic evidence relevant to investment in older people living in Wales. As health economists, we focus on evidence of the costs to the public sector and wider society of economic issues, and evidence of the cost-effectiveness or return on investment [**see glossary**] of evidence-based interventions to address them. This report brings together robust international and UK evidence on the relative cost-effectiveness and return on investment of devoting public sector resources to programmes and practices supporting older people. Where possible, we have translated evidence of potential savings from these interventions to a current Wales context through currency conversion, inflation and scaling of figures (see rapid review methodology and analysis section below). Our intended audience includes Public Health bodies and other agencies in Wales, England, Scotland and Northern Ireland; the seven Health Boards across Wales; Welsh local government and the third sector, who currently and potentially have a role in supporting and benefiting from older people living across Wales.

Scope of report

The choice of topics covered in this report came from consultation with our multi-disciplinary advisory board, Public Health Wales colleagues, academics working in the field of health and social care relating to older people and our review of policies and practice relevant to older people in Wales. This includes National Institute for Health and Care Excellence [NICE] guidance; Social Care Institute for Excellence [SCIE] resources, and national programmes active in Wales. We consulted with members of Age Alliance Wales and the Cymru Older People's Alliance (COPA) [**see glossary**] to identify relevant sources of Wales based economic evaluations of services and action for older people. We have been further informed by the views of older people through the consultation of older people living in Wales as part of the Welsh Government review of the Older Peoples Strategy for Wales. We hope this report reflects our social rather than medical view of health and wellbeing in older age.

Ageing Well in Wales highlight five priority areas to improve the health and wellbeing of older people in Wales (age friendly communities; dementia supportive communities; falls prevention; loneliness and isolation; and opportunities for learning and employment)¹. In this report we explore the economic case for investing in older people as assets, through appraising the available economic evidence relating to older people (spanning interventions, policies and practice relevant to Wales).

Rapid review methodology and analysis

Rapid reviews are an efficient method of producing information in a timely manner and are often used by decision makers in health and social care settings². Rapid reviews can produce more timely evidence for policy and decision makers compared with traditional systematic reviews.

We identified three main areas to focus our searches and synthesis of the economic literature relevant to older people in Wales (loneliness and social isolation; caring for older carers; and preventing falls). We undertook robust rapid reviews of the literature 2006 – 2017, published in the English language worldwide. The rapid reviews broadly followed the design, methods and processes of the Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Group and the Campbell

and Cochrane Economics Methods Group (CCEMG)³. Our full search strategies are available in our electronic technical appendix (<u>cheme.bangor.ac.uk</u>). Primary and secondary questions were formed for each review and PubMed, DARE, HTA, Cochrane, and NHS EED databases were searched. Titles, abstracts and full papers were screened separately by two researchers and data was extracted from selected papers. Grey literature was found through hand searching and use of the internet. We included grey literature studies which we felt to be relevant to this report.

In order to illustrate the current value of potential investment we have inflated figures throughout the report to reflect the market rates in 2016. Great British Pounds (GBP) from the original data year (pre 2016) have been inflated to 2016 Bank of England rates <u>http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/</u>education/Pages/resources/inflationtools/calculator/default.aspx) and are marked with a †. Other currencies which are both inflated to 2016 values in local currency and then converted to GBP are marked with ††. The following local currency inflation calculators were used:

- Australian Dollars http://www.rba.gov.au/calculator/
- Canadian Dollars <u>http://www.bankofcanada.ca/rates/related/inflation-calculator/</u>
- US Dollars <u>http://www.usinflationcalculator.com/</u>
- Euros http://www.in2013dollars.com/Euro-inflation

The exchange rate on 31/03/2016 was used for converting Australian dollars, Canadian dollars, US dollars, and Euros into GBP (<u>http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/boeapps/iadb/Rates.</u> <u>asp?TD=31&TM=Mar&TY=2016&into=GBP&rateview=D</u>).

UK wide figures were scaled (pro-rated **[see glossary]**) based on the population for Wales being a 4.7% share of the UK population according to the Office for National Statistics (ONS) population statistics (<u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/</u> <u>populationestimates</u>). Prorated figures are marked with *. Older people make up a slightly higher proportion of the population in Wales compared with the UK as a whole. Prorated estimates may therefore underrepresent the actual savings and benefits to Wales and are included for illustrative purposes only.

Funded by Public Health Wales

Public Health Wales is an NHS organisation providing professionally independent public health advice and services to protect and improve the health and wellbeing of the population of Wales. Production of this report was funded by Public Health Wales. **However, the views in this report are entirely those of the authors and should not be assumed to be the same as those of Public Health Wales.**



Contents

About this report and the approach we have taken	2
Foreword	5
Executive Summary	6
1. Background	11
2. Investing in older people as assets	15
3. Continuing employment in later years	21
4. Housing and independent living in an age-friendly Wales	25
5. Preventing loneliness and social isolation	31
6. Caring for older carers	
7. Preventing falls and reducing hospital stays	45
8. Discussion	53
Glossary	56
References	57
Acknowledgements	65
About the authors	66

Foreword

Despite the significant contribution that older people make to Wales – through volunteering, providing care and support, working and paying taxes – a pejorative narrative has crystallised in recent years that portrays older people as a burden on society, particularly in terms of the costs of providing health and social care services. This is not true, of course: even after health and social care costs are accounted for, older people are still net contributors to the Welsh economy and their contribution continues to grow significantly. As Older People's Commissioner, I have worked hard, as have many others, to challenge this narrative and ensure that older people are recognised for what they truly are: a vital asset to Wales who enrich our lives in so many ways. A key part of this work has also been making clear how the right support, delivered in the right way at the right time – an approach at the heart of the growing and essential prevention agenda – not only helps older people to continue to make the significant contribution they do, but also has the potential to reduce the high costs to the public purse of taking action when a crisis occurs and more extensive health and social care support is needed.

I welcome the publication of this report, which provides much-needed evidence for policy and decision makers about why taking both an asset-based and preventative approach to supporting older people, delivered as part of a more joined-up system, will be essential to provide a range of benefits to our communities and our economy and, perhaps most importantly, will help older people to live well for longer.

Sarah Rochira, Older People's Commissioner for Wales

Preface

In Wales we are living and working longer. This means that in older age we are both contributing more to society through the value of what we produce, taxes we pay on our earnings, and the value of what we spend, but also through the volunteering activities we do and the unpaid caring we do for partners, older family members and grandchildren. However, living longer means that we are likely to make more demands upon health and care services. Welsh Government and public bodies need evidence on what are the most costeffective ways of spending budgets to enable older



people to live well into older age and manage the demands upon health and care services. Health economics is the study of how we in society use scarce, or limited, resources to meet our health and care needs. In this report, written by health economists living and working in Wales, we consider evidence which we hope will be useful to contribute to evidence-based decision making by NHS Health Boards, local authority social services, other local authority services, Welsh Government and the voluntary sector. We have very much written this report mindful of the principles of prudent health care 2014⁴, the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 2015⁵ and the Prosperity for All national strategy 2017⁶. We hope you enjoy reading this report.

Professor Rhiannon Tudor Edwards, Bangor University

Executive Summary

Background

Older people are the largest and fastest growing demographic section of the population in Wales. It is therefore imperative to create an age friendly Wales. Older people are an enormous asset to the economy, culture and social structure of Wales. At a time of financial constraint for health and social care services, this asset needs to be unlocked through the commissioning of cost-effective public sector services, in co-production with voluntary and private sector resources^{7,8}.



Key Messages

People over the age of 65 years have a substantial role to play within the development of a sustainable circular economy in Wales, through acknowledgement of the opportunities for efficient use of resources from birth through to supporting the next generation (cradle to cradle philosophy). Creating champions and facilitating co-production with older people as active members of society can generate between £0.79 - £112.42 in social value for every £1 investment⁹. A Social Return on Investment (SROI) [**see glossary**] approach considers the triple bottom line of social, economic and environmental returns. An example could be a win-win policy with investment that protects older people from environmental change whilst contributing to wider sustainability of the environment, such as improving home insulation^{10,11}.



The value of childcare contributions that grandparents (50+) make equates to £325 million*† in Wales¹².

Older people make a significant contribution in Wales as volunteers¹³, worth £483 million^{†*} per year to the Welsh economy, a figure expected to grow to £705 million^{*} per year by 2020¹⁴.

Raising the rate of employment for older people (aged 55+) to match Swedish levels could boost UK Gross Domestic Product (GDP) **[see glossary]** by 4.2%, representing a value of £84.43 billion††, £3.97 billion* pro-rated per year to Wales¹⁵. The workforce in Wales aged 65 or over contributed £1.94 billion, equating to over 4% of total Gross Value Added (GVA) **[see glossary]** in 2012¹².

In Wales the 'grey pound' (spending power of those aged 65 years+) can be valued at around £4.18 billion^{†*}, a figure set to rise to £5.97* billion by 2030¹⁴.

Housing and independent living

The Welsh Government spends around £50 million per year on adapting the homes of older and disabled people, helping them to live safely and independently¹⁶. For every £1 invested in Care & Repair there is £7.50 savings to the taxpayer¹⁷. It is cost-effective to improve housing by providing heating and insulation for high risk groups of over 65s¹⁸.

Preventing loneliness and social isolation

Maintaining mental wellbeing and independence has been cited as a best buy for public health¹⁹. In Wales, 17% of older people are lonely, rising to 63% of those aged 80 and over²⁰. The impact of loneliness has been compared to other well-known risk factors to health such as obesity, and has a similar negative influence to that of smoking 15 cigarettes a day²¹.

The current situation of high rates of loneliness in Wales is unaffordable for the NHS and social care services^{22,23}. Prevention is key to addressing this problem and requires joint pro-active efforts by all the agencies and public sector organisations concerned with the wellbeing of older people. The costs and benefits of loneliness prevention fall across multiple sectors and society, therefore a private and public sector multiagency **[see glossary]** response is required²⁴.

A lack of transport can contribute to higher levels of social isolation in older people²⁵. Community transport provides a positive return on investment of £3 return for every £1 invested^{26,27}.

Programmes which bring together generations can have bi-directional benefits in the sense that older people can gain enjoyment from interaction with children, while children can gain confidence, language skills and an appreciation for older adults²⁸⁻³⁰. International evidence of intergenerational programmes indicates that opportunities for older people to support the learning of children through social education could be cost-effective and even cost-saving³¹.

The evidence of the impact of new technologies on loneliness prevention is mixed, but training on how to use the internet, social media and other modern communication tools may be a cost-effective way to support older people and enable them to maintain good social links, particularly for older people living in very rural communities and a long way from grown up children and friends^{32,33}.

Arts and craft activity based programmes such as Craft Café and the Men in Sheds programmes can generate high rates of social value of between $\pounds 8.27^{34}$ and $\pounds 10^{35}$ returned for every $\pounds 1$ invested.

Older people who are lonely, compared to people who are not lonely are on average:



3.5 times more likely to enter local authority-funded residential care.



3.4 times more likely to suffer depression

1.8 times more likely to visit their GP



1.6 times more likely to visit A&E

1.3 times more likely to have emergency admissions



14% increased likelihood of coronary heart disease



8% increased likelihood of a stroke



7% increased likelihood of diabetes

There is an economic case for community driven interventions to combat loneliness and build community capacity, whilst also developing good communication links between agencies and vulnerable older people³⁶⁻³⁸. Community based interventions can offer a positive return on investment of between £1.11 and £4 in benefits associated with wellbeing improvements, wider social benefit and NHS savings.

Caring for older carers

Wales has the highest percentage of unpaid older carers compared with any other part of the UK³⁹.

There is a large variation in the estimates of the economic contribution of all carers in the UK, from a saving of £91billion† every year in potential care costs⁴⁰ to an economic value of the contribution made by carers of £139† billion per year⁴¹. In Wales, unpaid older carers save the Welsh economy an estimated £1.88 billion†* in care costs, and this figure is predicted to rise to £2.44 billion* by 2030¹⁴. Other estimates indicate that the value of total carers contributions in Wales could in fact be considerably higher at an estimated £8.15 billion† per year⁴¹.

Carers can be the key factor that can keep someone living at home or prevent admission to hospital or residential care in Wales⁴², however caregivers' own use of health care services increases as their caregiving load increases⁴³. The cost of not caring for carers is extremely high.

There are benefits of flexible provision and a range of available carers programmes which take account of variation in circumstances of carers and care recipient characteristics⁴⁴. Examples of cost-effective interventions to support carers include psychosocial education (educating and informing the caregiver) and support for carers of people with dementia which can be cost-effective at an



estimated cost of £100.08⁺⁺ per family caregiver⁴⁵.Tailored Activity Programmes (TAP) delivered by occupational therapists are a cost-effective intervention which can provide family carers of people with dementia with valuable time off from caregiving⁴⁶. Caregivers saved one extra hour per day 'doing things' at a cost of £1.65⁺⁺ a day and one extra hour per day 'being on duty', at a cost of £0.86⁺⁺⁴⁶.

Dementia is estimated to cost the Welsh economy £1.47 billion† per year⁴⁷. In terms of health care costs, £206.13 million† is spent each year and in terms of social care costs £562.65 million† is spent annually (publicly and privately funded). In Wales, £654.15 million† is contributed by the work of unpaid carers of people with dementia per annum and £6.31 million† is spent on other costs, including police costs of missing person enquiries, advocacy services and research⁴⁷.

Peer support for people with dementia and carers has been shown to give a positive return on investment with groups creating social value, ranging from £1.17 to £5.18 for every £1 invested⁴⁸.

People in middle age are encouraged to be more physically active, socially active and mentally stimulated to reduce dementia risk in older age by relieving stress, improving mood and reducing the risk of loneliness and depression⁴⁹.

Preventing falls

Falls are estimated to cost the NHS in the UK more than £2.3 billion per year⁵⁰. Prevention is key to addressing the cost of falls and requires joint pro-active efforts to ageing well. Preventative strategies are cost-effective in both the short and longer term⁵¹. It is estimated that preventative action such as physiotherapy for older people could reduce falls in Wales by 9,396 each year, a potential saving to the NHS of more than £15.87 million per year⁵². There is a return on investment of over £4 when £1 is invested in physiotherapy for falls prevention⁵².

As people get older, maintaining muscle strength and the ability to balance are crucial to reducing the risk of falling. T'ai chi ch'üan is a cost-effective exercise intervention for older adults living in the community, the incremental cost per fall avoided is around £1,816.88^{+† 53} and there is strong evidence that moving for better balance can give a return on investment of £5.09 for every £1 invested⁵⁴.

There is strong evidence that avoiding hospital admissions through well-designed communitybased interventions that target falls prevention among older people are highly cost-effective^{55–57}.

Conclusions – Key investment areas

Wales needs to focus attention and investment on the following key areas:

- Fully integrated health and care services;
- Maintaining physical and mental well being in older age, with a focus on reducing social isolation and loneliness;
- Maintaining services to promote prevention (particularly falls prevention), rehabilitation and reablement;
- · Investment in sustainable homes, transport and communities, and
- Support for informal carers.

The development of a genuinely whole systems approach to monitoring care quality, costs and trends in expenditure in health and care services should be an important government priority as integrated care approaches are further developed⁵⁸.

Enabling working for longer, facilitating volunteering and supporting working parents through care of grandchildren brings many economic returns in terms of improving wellbeing; reducing loneliness, and supporting formal and wider community services. Co-production enables older people to remain active in the community, with bi-directional benefits within the community and public sector services.

Programmes that promote exercise and improve balance can be cost-effective in terms of improving physical and psychological wellbeing in older age, reducing falls and associated need for hospital and community care. Local transport systems that can support active travel, including walking and cycling, provide wider economic benefits. For example, if there are sufficient transport links in place grandparents can actively take part in the care of dispersed grandchildren.

Maintaining funding across prevention, rehabilitation and reablement, including for Care & Repair Cymru's Rapid Response Adaptation Programme (RRAP) to adapt the homes of older people ensuring warm and safe homes, can provide economic benefits by promoting independent living; reducing the need for hospital admissions; facilitating earlier discharge from hospital, and reducing demands on health and social care services.

Many older people are themselves informal carers. There are costs of providing care to older carers who are in need of social, medical and psychological support. Carers, including carers of people with dementia, can be the key factor that can keep someone at home or prevent admission to hospital or residential care. There is an economic case for making support for older carers a priority in Wales as there are more unpaid older carers in Wales than in any other part of the UK.

The full report and the technical appendix are available on the CHEME website. Please visit <u>http://cheme.bangor.ac.uk</u>.



Living well for longer: The economic argument for investing in the health and wellbeing of older people in Wales





- For every £1 invested in older people up to £112 can be generated in social capital.
- Grandparents provide **£325** million worth of unpaid childcare in Wales per year.

The impact of loneliness has a similar negative influence to that of smoking 15 cigarettes a day.





Postponing entry into residential care by just one year through adapting homes e.g. adapted toilets, showers, lifting equipment and new heating systems saves over **£30k** per person.

The workforce in Wales aged 65 or over contributed **£2 billion** equating to over **4%** of total Gross Value Added (GVA) in 2012.





Preventing a fall leading to hip fracture saves on average over **£32k**.

The 'grey pound' (spending power of those aged 65+) can be valued at around **£4.18billion** per year in Wales



1. Background



Why we are making the economic case for investing in older people in Wales

This report is about older people, defined here as people aged over 65 years. People age differently therefore, the health, views and life experiences of those aged over 65 years will vary substantially. Older people in Wales today have seen great social change in their lifetime. They grew up at a time when churches and chapels, manufacturing, mining, farming, the Welsh language and close family networks were at the centre of Welsh culture. For older people living in both urban and rural parts of Wales, financial austerity over the last decade in particular, has led to cuts in services. The Older People's Commissioner for Wales has highlighted the importance of services such as community transport, public toilets, libraries, leisure facilities and day centres to older people⁸. This is combined with constraints on the NHS and social care provision⁵⁹. These all contribute to making older people potentially vulnerable to poor health and social isolation. In turn, these vulnerabilities place enormous and growing demands upon health care and social services. Older people over the traditional retirement age of 65 years old make a significant contribution to the economy in Wales, but ongoing financial austerity and social change mean that we may not yet have seen the full economic consequences of changes in work, retirement and volunteering patterns⁶⁰.

We set the scene by acknowledging the economic contribution of older people (section 2); highlighting the impact of continuing employment into older age (section 3), and recognising

the importance of housing and enabling independence in later life within an age friendly Wales (section 4). We provide evidence of the cost-effectiveness or return on investment on preventing loneliness and social isolation (section 5); caring for older carers (section 6), and preventing falls and reducing hospital stays (section 7). These topics were chosen based on the types of studies found in our literature review searches. Our report emphasises that public sector and third sector services available to older people in Wales need to be cost-effective and provide good value for money to society.



Produced by Public Health Wales Observatory, using MYE (ONS) © Crown Copyright and database right 2016, Ordnance Survey 100044810

Figure 1.1 Estimated population aged 65-84 years in Wales, 2014⁶¹

Older people and the population of Wales

This report is about the economic argument for investing in older people in Wales to support people to live longer in good health in older age. Wales is a nation with a significant proportion of older people.

Figure 1.1 shows the map of Wales with the concentration of people aged 65 – 84 years⁶¹. It shows that in some mainly coastal and rural communities (such as south Gwynedd, parts of Anglesey and mid Powys) up to 44.1% of the population are 65-84 years old. This trend is set to continue if middle aged people remain in their current homes, based on statistics showing that 54% of people living in rural areas are over 45 years of age, compared to 42% in large towns³⁹.

Out of the whole population, the 65 to 84 and 85+ age groups are projected to increase the most by 2036, when 1 in 4 people will be aged 65 and over (see Figure 1.2).

Figure 1.2 Population projections by age group, percentage change since 2011, Wales, 2011-2036⁶¹





Ageing and health considerations

In Wales, men and women aged 65 years today could expect to live to their 83rd and 85th birthday respectively⁶². The likelihood of being treated for a range of illnesses increases with age including high blood pressure, heart conditions, arthritis, diabetes, eyesight and hearing difficulties⁶³. Across the UK there has been an increase in Healthy Life Expectancy⁶⁴ [**see glossary**]. The likelihood of having a disability increases with age and at age 65 years, older people in Wales can expect to spend less than half of their remaining years disability free⁶⁴ (see Box 1.1).

The Department of Health in England calculates that 70% of the total health and social care spend in England is for the treatment and care of people with long-term conditions such as diabetes and heart disease. Yet many lifestyle choices, such as smoking, poor diet leading to obesity, alcohol abuse and sedentary lifestyles with insufficient exercise, contribute towards developing these conditions in later life, and are avoidable^{65,66}. Although rates of binge drinking in Wales decrease with age⁶³, generally older people are reported to make up half of all alcohol-related hospital admissions⁶⁷. The proportion of people who report being overweight or obese increases with age, especially between the ages of 60 and 69, then decreases for people over 70 years old⁶³.

There is strong evidence that as age increases, so does the number of chronic conditions⁶⁸. Older people and particularly those who are chronically ill often take multiple medications⁶⁹. To be clinically effective and cost-effective, medication requires a level of patient adherence; however, convincing evidence has shown that up to half of all older people are reported to not adequately adhere to recommended treatments⁶⁹. Initiatives including those which apply newer communication technologies to health care, e.g. mobile phones ('m-Health') to improve medication adherence, are becoming more routinely applied worldwide; however, there is mixed evidence of whether they are likely to lead to large improvements in adherence or clinical outcomes, and in turn have any impact on health and social care spending^{70,71}. Medication reviews are helpful in aiding older people to maintain their independence and prevent falls⁷². Medicines optimisation and appropriate polypharmacy (for people taking more than four medications) can help ensure safe and effective use of medicines for older people^{73,74}. Drug treatments to keep older people active and well are also reviewed regularly as good prescribing practice by pharmacies in Wales as many medicines in common use can cause problems⁷⁵. Adverse reactions to medicines are implicated in around 7% of adult hospital admissions, with around two thirds of these considered to have been preventable⁷⁶. Frail older people are particularly vulnerable and more likely to experience adverse reactions^{77,78}. "The impact on costs could also be substantial, given the levels of drug wastage and the high numbers of preventable drug-related emergency hospital admissions"⁷⁸.



2. Investing in older people as assets



As people are living longer in Wales, they also contribute more to the Welsh economy in terms of being part of the workforce and their contribution to the caring and voluntary sectors. Older adults may feel a need to contribute to the next generation and in doing so can gain feelings of accomplishment or success as they age⁷⁹. Older people are assets as they provide assistance with childcare, community groups and with looking after other elderly relatives or friends.

The economic contribution of older people in Wales

Contrary to negative public perceptions of older people as a drain on the health service ⁸⁰, there is overwhelming evidence that older people make a net positive contribution to the economy¹⁴. After taking account of all the costs associated with an ageing population (especially health and social care, and pensions) and considering the positive financial contributions that older people make (particularly through spending, tax, volunteering and caring responsibilities) older people make an annual net positive contribution of £2.19billion*† to the Welsh economy (almost £6million a day*†). It is predicted that the net financial contributions to costs is expected to rise from 1.29 to 1 to 1.35 to 1, representing an 89% increase in net benefits¹⁴. Three factors explain this projected increase in net contribution of older people to society: demographic change, abolition of the formal retirement age and an increase in Healthy Life Expectancy, all resulting in an overall increased capacity for older people continuing to work and volunteer⁸¹. This saves the taxpayer millions of pounds⁷.

Childcare

In England, 62% of over 50s have one or more grandchildren⁸². In the UK, grandparents provide a considerable amount of childcare, with, 1 in 3 families depending on grandparents for childcare; however, there is very little Wales specific research about the role that grandparents play⁸³. Around 65% of grandparents provide some form of childcare, with the median number of hours of care per week at 11.3⁸². The value of childcare contributions that grandparents (50+) make has been estimated to be £6.94 billion† in the UK, equating to £325 million*† in Wales¹² per annum.

Volunteering

Older people make a significant contribution in Wales as volunteers¹³, worth £483 million^{†*} per year to the Welsh economy and expected to grow to £705 million^{*} per year by 2020¹⁴. More than half of all older people (and over two thirds of older adults aged 55-64) report that they do some informal volunteering, with activities including keeping in touch with a housebound person and providing transport¹³. One in three older people report volunteering formally with organisations and formal groups, including volunteering in children's activities within and outside school, sports and exercise, health and social care, community groups, faith based groups and working in charity shops^{13,14}.

Spending power (the 'grey pound')

The older consumer market is large and it is growing. Older people (aged 50+) hold 60% of the UK's savings and their spending power accounts for around 40% of all consumer spending^{84,85}. The older market is forecast to grow by 81% from 2005 to 2030, a striking contrast to the expected 7% growth by the rest of the UK consumer⁸⁵. Older people aged 65+ are predicted to account for 25% of the UK consumer population (16+) by 2030, collectively spending an estimated £127 billion annually¹⁴. In Wales the 'grey pound' (spending power of 65+) can be valued at around £4.18 billion†*, a figure set to rise to $\pm 5.97^*$ billion by 2030¹⁴.

Carers (see also section 7: Caring for older carers)

In Wales, nearly 1 in 3 people over 50 years old are informal carers³⁹. Wales has the highest percentage of unpaid older carers compared with any other part of the UK³⁹. The amount of care provided by unpaid older carers annually saves the Welsh economy an estimated £1.88 billion^{*} and is predicted to rise to £2.44 billion^{*} by 2030¹⁴.

Older people within a sustainable circular economy

Recognition of the contribution that older people make to the economy, particularly through working and volunteering into older age, fits with the ethos of the circular economy. A circular economy is an alternative to a traditional linear economy (make, use, dispose) in which we keep resources in use for as long as possible. In a circular economy, we extract the maximum value from products whilst in use, then recover and regenerate products and materials at the end of each service life⁸⁶.

Internationally, the World Health Organisation has recognised that focusing on health alone without the context of economic, social and environmental sustainability is not enough. Sustainable development goals will influence health, because they all address the determinants of health. The 2030 Agenda for sustainable development, with 17 goals (spanning poverty, equality, environment, education and health) will link different dimensions of development (including health) to the environment, to prosperity and to all actions and policies that affect human wellbeing⁸⁷. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act highlights three key areas as wellbeing indicators for Wales: social, environmental, and economic priorities.

Figure 2.1 shows the principle of a sustainable circular economy from the cradle to the cradle, rather than cradle to grave. The cradle to cradle philosophy is a holistic economic, industrial and social framework that seeks to create systems that are not only efficient but also essentially waste free⁷⁷. This model is not limited to industrial design and manufacturing; it can be applied to human civilisation such as urban environments, buildings, economics and social systems. The role for example that grandparents play in looking after grandchildren and enabling parents to go to work would fit into such a model, or the co-location of preschool and elderly daycare facilities (see later).

Social contributions of older people

In addition to the substantial economic contributions outlined above, older people also benefit the places they live by being active members of their communities. The work which older people do is sometimes referred to as 'social glue', which cannot readily be quantified in monetary terms. Older people are more likely than younger people to volunteer, be involved with community-based organisations, participate in democratic institutions and vote¹⁴.

Older people and the environment

Older people are particularly susceptible to environmental hazards and may be physically, financially and emotionally less able to cope with the effects of a changing climate including events such as flooding and rapid temperature changes¹⁰. A Social Return on Investment (SROI) approach considers the triple bottom line of social, economic and environmental returns. An example could be a win-win policy and investment that protects older people from environmental change whilst contributing to wider sustainability of the environment, such as improving home insulation^{10,11}. Older people have a wealth of skills and knowledge which can be drawn upon and as a large (and growing) proportion of the population they also have a great opportunity to reduce overall environmental footprints¹⁰.





Figure 2.1 Sustainable circular economy: from the cradle to the cradle

Opportunities to enable older people - removing barriers

Throughout this report we highlight potential investments that can facilitate and remove barriers to older people making a full positive contribution to society. In Wales, the concept of co-production is a key part of prudent health [**see glossary**] and social care as a means of enabling older people and breaking down barriers to community engagement. The Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE) offers resources to promote co-production, including for older people, so that older people can inform service delivery and develop measures for effective participation⁸⁹. We focus here on two examples relevant to Wales, embracing co-production and removing barriers.

Creating champions and fostering participation

Older people in a volunteering capacity can act as champions, making use of their lifetime experiences in such roles. A Big Lottery Funded programme called Altogether Better based in Yorkshire and Humberside found that putting older people into community lay public health roles improved their own personal health (particularly mental and social aspects of health) and had the potential to positively influence the health of others in the community⁷⁹. The study supports the use of existing older peoples' networks as a means of recruiting champions to lay public health roles, highlighting the support they may need in such roles as an addition to rather than substitute for formal health and social care services⁹¹. A SROI analysis indicates that every £1 invested generates between £0.79 - £112.42 in social value⁹. This experience from England should be considered for implementation and evaluation in Wales.

Working alongside professional health and social care workers in a variety of settings, including GP Practices and Emergency Departments, Community Health Champions have an opportunity to support people to better manage health conditions and make positive lifestyle choices, bringing about significant cost-savings^{9,90}.



The role of transport as a potential barrier and facilitator to older people making a positive contribution

There are major opportunities for achieving large health gains, and reducing financial demands on health and social care, for the population of Wales by increasing levels of routine physical activity in the adult population. The promotion of active travel, including walking and cycling has additional advantages over and above increasing physical activity, in terms of decreasing air and noise pollution and improving the quality of urban and rural life. Enabling older people to gain these advantages requires effective inter-sectoral collaboration across health, transport, land-use and environment sectors, embracing co-production⁹².

Maintaining mobility in older age enables independence, reduces social isolation and supports continued physical activity²⁰. A lack of transport can contribute to higher levels of social isolation in older people²⁵. There is a growing body of evidence that using public transport is associated with a decrease in obesity as using buses and trains often involves walking or cycling to interchanges such as bus stops⁹³. While some older people may view not being able to drive any longer as a loss in terms of independence⁹⁴, bus use is associated with a number of important benefits such as increased interaction with family and friends⁹⁵ and maintaining physical activity levels¹⁶.

Both formal employment and volunteering activities involve older people being able to access private or public transport. The economic contribution to society of older people is dependent on their ability to travel. In the UK, enhancing older people's ability to travel to undertake formal employment or volunteering activities could enable them to contribute 10% more than at present, equivalent to an additional £19.3 billion† per annum in the UK⁹⁶ equating to £907 million* to Wales.

Particularly relevant to rural areas of Wales, the Welsh Government Strategy for Older People 2013-2023 estimates that community transport can provide a £3 return for every £1 invested²⁶. Evidence from the North East of Aberdeenshire, Buchan Dial-a-Community Bus (DACB), a social enterprise with an aim of reducing social exclusion through the provision of community transport delivery and support services, indicates that £1 invested provides a social value return of £3.03²⁷.

Funding of travel initiatives through taxpayer compensation schemes has been reviewed in England, and a need for more accessible and affordable flexible transport options was highlighted as potentially helping enable employment and volunteering into older age⁹⁷. Alternatives to the free bus pass for older people in England include means-testing the bus pass, however this is likely to incur administrative costs and may negatively affect those most at risk of social and transport exclusion. Despite pressure on public spending, concessionary bus travel for older people has the potential to have large impacts on health and wellbeing and further research into the cost effectiveness of such schemes is needed⁹⁸. In Wales, particularly in rural areas, mobility for older people is an important issue and uptake of benefits such as free bus travel for people aged over 60 years should be assessed alongside cost-effectiveness of various transport schemes, including preserving or increasing local bus services, local authority or third sector support to community transport schemes, availability of taxis and lifts from friends and neighbours.

3. Continuing employment in later years



Employment

For this section on employment and older people, grey literature was consulted, including moderate (n=8) and strong evidence (n=8) (see technical appendix) indicating that increasing the length of working life can have a large impact on the overall potential economic contribution of older people. There is strong evidence to suggest that the UK has a lower employment rate of older people than other OECD countries, for example, in the UK 63.4% of people aged 55 – 64 years are in employment compared with 75.5% in Sweden (the best performing EU country in the Golden Age Index)¹⁵. In Wales, 66.5% of 50-64 year olds are in employment¹⁵. Raising the rate of employment for older people (aged 55+) to match Swedish levels could boost UK Gross Domestic Product (GDP) by 4.2%, representing a value of £84.43 billion⁺⁺, £3.97 billion^{*} prorated to Wales¹⁵. The workforce in Wales aged 65 or over contributed £1.94 billion equating to over 4% of total Gross Value Added (GVA) in 2012¹². Strategies to support older people work up to and beyond retirement are needed, particularly creating employment opportunities and environments that are appropriate for an older workforce. Supporting older people to stay in the workforce for longer can also generate productivity gains through retaining large amounts of experience and skills in the workplace⁹⁸. Three quarters of older people believe that the UK does not make good use of the skills and abilities of older people^{100,101}.

Though more older people working longer might reduce the number of older people available to volunteer, the Royal Voluntary Service (RVS, formally Women's Royal Voluntary Service [WRVS]) estimates that an increase in healthy life expectancy means that they will be able to volunteer for longer¹⁴.

As the default retirement age no longer exists in the UK¹⁰², an increasing number of older people are working later in life. The proportion of the population aged 65-74 who were economically active in 2011 (16%) was almost double the proportion in 2001 (9%) in England and Wales¹⁰³. In Wales, 66.5% of older people aged 50-64 years are in employment¹⁵.

Across the UK, employment rates since 1985 for people aged 50 to 64 have grown considerably from 55% to 70%¹⁰². For women aged between 50 and 64, 64% were in work in 2015, compared with 42% in 1985¹⁰². The employment rate for people over the age of 65 has doubled from 5% to 10%¹⁰². The proportion of those in work aged 70 to 74 has also risen from 6% to 10%¹⁰². There is strong evidence to suggest that continued employment means that older people will earn more money and also be able to spend more money and pay more tax to the UK government⁸¹.

There is strong evidence to suggest that paid employment has benefits for older people both in terms of experience and sharing expertise¹⁰⁴ and in terms of maintaining wellness¹⁰⁵. Healthy older people who are able to work are in a better position than older people who cannot work due to ill-health, or who have other demands on their time and attention. Some older people who are unwell may not be able to work¹⁰⁶ and in Wales, there is strong evidence to suggest that increasing numbers of older people are unable to afford retirement at state pension age^{107,108}. There is also strong evidence to suggest that worklessness may have detrimental effects on the wellbeing of an older person because of missing social connections, mental stimulation, confidence, being valued and making a positive contribution to society¹⁰⁹.

Older people living in the UK are affected by recent changes to UK government policy on extending working life, such as policies aimed at moving people off benefits and into paid work, changes to the age at which people can receive state pension and benefits income, and removal of barriers to working longer¹⁰⁸. NICE guidance on workplace health and the economic evidence informing their recommendations are outlined in Box 3.1.



NICE guidance on workplace health highlights that "demographic changes, and changes to the state pension age, mean the proportion of older employees in the workforce is likely to continue to increase. Productivity depends on the workforce being in good health, and a person's health will affect their ability to stay in work and continue earning an income. However, older employees may wish to remain in work for a variety of reasons other than financial. Continuing to work can have both social and health benefits for older people. So there is a need to further understand what can help to maintain and improve outcomes in this group from a health and wellbeing perspective."

Addressing the needs of older employees and improving their health through improved workplace practices and interventions may help to support the retention and productivity of staff and reduce absenteeism. NICE highlight economic modelling tools available to decision makers wishing to determine if a work place health intervention for older workers is cost-effective in their organisation.

NICE recommends cost-effective interventions to support older workers particularly in terms of:

- 1. Maintaining and improving their health and wellbeing at work;
- 2. Remaining in work for longer or re-entering work;
- 3. Planning and preparing for retirement;
- 4. Challenging stereotypes in the workplace around attitudes towards older workers.

Box 3.1 Workplace health: management practices and economic evidence (NICE, 2015, updated in 2016) [NG13, 2015, updated 2016]¹¹⁰

Older workers should have the same access to training, progression, mentoring or leadership as workers of other ages. This includes wellbeing support and appropriate physical adjustments, equipment and flexible working arrangements, and all forms of adaptation that are usual in the workplace¹⁰⁴.

Flexible working arrangements, reduced hours or ability to adjust the time and place of work are fundamental to making paid work more age-friendly for those over 50 who may also have caring responsibilities for family or friends. In 2017, over 1.9 million people aged over 50 work for themselves¹⁰⁰. Self-employment has benefits for the elderly as they can work flexibly.

Unhealthy behaviours in midlife are associated with transitions out of employment into old age. There is strong evidence to suggest that promoting healthy behaviours at midlife may help to support current policy initiatives aimed at extending working life¹¹¹.

4. Housing and independent living in an age-friendly Wales



For this section on housing and independent living, grey literature (mostly from Wales) and more international literature found in the rapid review are reported. Some of this evidence is weak in the sense that they are reports and not empirical research (n=14), some are of moderate quality in terms of evidence (n=21) and some are stronger in terms of quality of evidence, and these are particularly the articles reported in peer-reviewed journals (n=10).

Ensuring safe independent living in older people is high on the Welsh government agenda¹¹². Since the Wanless report in 2007¹¹³, new policies and guidelines have been developed in Wales that emphasise integrated approaches to service delivery, with the goal of helping people live independent and well lives, for example the Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act (2014) built upon the Welsh Government's Strategy for Older People in Wales²⁶, as well as the commitments of the Ageing Well in Wales 2012 Programme²⁶. The policies and models include integrating a range of health and social care services across Wales particularly around avoiding delayed transfers of care from hospital to the community. Whilst approaches vary, all are guided by common principles including the need to start with citizen and service requirements and design approaches to service delivery that are most likely to meet them. These often feature multi-disciplinary and multi-organisational responses⁵⁸.

Integrated systems of health and social care are viewed as being both effective and more costeffective (and therefore sustainable); however, it is generally acknowledged that the ability to track financial data and savings across different parts of the system is currently extremely limited. The development of a genuinely whole systems approach to monitoring care quality, costs and trends in expenditure in health and care services should be an important government priority as integrated care approaches are further developed⁵⁸. There are a number of different types of care and potential points for intervention relevant to older people in Wales (see figure 4.1). Access to appropriate levels of support is key to preventing deterioration and promoting rehabilitation in order to support older people to live in the community. Very often, that support may be complex and will require careful coordination, especially when many older people have multiple long-term conditions.



Figure 4.1 Types of health and social care interventions for older people and people with complex needs¹¹⁴

Improving social care for older people with multiple long-term conditions that helps enable them to stay in the community may avoid the need for high-intensity home care or residential care in the future, this may provide cost savings to local authorities. NICE guidance on social needs is outlined in Box 4.1.

Determining the cost-effectiveness in social care requires a different approach to that of economic evaluation in health care. As a measure of health-related quality of life, the QALY **[see glossary]** is considered to not reflect the outcomes of importance in social care and is therefore not the agreed-upon outcome on which to base decisions about cost-effectiveness. In further contrast to health care economic evaluations, where it is generally considered that interventions are cost-effective at a threshold between £20,000 and £30,000 per QALY, there is no agreed-upon threshold in economic evaluations of social care¹¹⁵. Recently the ASCOT measure has been designed to capture information about an individual's social care related quality of life (SCRQoL), over eight domains for users and seven domains for carers. The domains for carers are Control over daily life; Personal cleanliness and comfort; Food and drink; Personal safety; Social participation and involvement; Occupation; Accommodation; Cleanliness and comfort; and Dignity.

Box 4.1 Older people with social care needs and multiple long-term conditions: economic evaluation considerations [NG22]¹¹⁵ and social care related quality of life measure (ASCOT)¹¹⁶

Age friendly environments

Age friendly environments are important as investment in environmental features may postpone or avoid the point where declining individual competences lead to the need for relocation or increase the need for formal care¹¹⁷. The WHO age-friendly cities guide¹¹⁷ highlights eight domains that cities and communities can address to better adapt their structures and services to the needs of older people. These cover the built environment, transport, housing, social participation, respect and social inclusion, civic participation and employment, communication, and community support and health services¹¹⁷. Town planning modifications can include the location of bus stops, transport fares and scheduling, disabled parking, pedestrian infrastructure and proximity to shops and services including toilets¹¹⁸. In terms of access to public spaces, the Public Health (Wales) Bill 2016 highlighted the importance of public toilets. Continence conditions often experienced by older people limit the amount of time individuals can be away from home, and in some cases, may stop them from leaving home altogether. Help the Aged found that 80% of respondents did not find it easy to locate a public toilet, 78% found public toilets not open when they needed them and over half (52%) agreed that a lack of provision prevented them from going out as often as they liked¹¹⁹. A consultation with Age Cymru in 2011¹²⁰ emphasised the fact that lack of public toilets can limit the social activities of older people and lead to a reduction in quality of life. The World Health Organisation has cited provision of access to plentiful and clean public toilets as a major factor in their Age Friendly Cities Guide¹¹⁷. There are considerable costs of installing and maintaining public toilets, however local authorities have been encouraged to further evaluate the full costs and benefits of public toilet provision in a UK context¹²¹.

Housing and age-friendly homes

Housing is an important aspect of tackling isolation and loneliness and provides the foundation to enable older people to live fulfilling and independent lives¹²². As a group, older people are vulnerable to accidents within and around their home¹²³ as they become less able and need more in terms of care and equipment within their home¹²⁴. Wales follows an 'ageing in place' approach to housing older people, with older people encouraged to live independently in their

4. Housing and independent living in an age-friendly Wales

own homes until residential relocation becomes necessary⁶⁵. Older people can choose between 'staying put' with care or 'moving through choice' and are supported to make the right choice¹²². Housing options range from general needs housing with or without some degree of support (e.g. adaptations, telecare) to sheltered housing, extra care housing and nursing and residential care homes, with some limited development in co-operative and co-housing models⁶⁵.

Sheltered housing is one of the supported housing options, where older people can live in bungalows or flats, with all external maintenance taken care of, usually with a careline to call in emergencies and with a warden living on or off site¹²⁵ (see Box 4.2).

A social model of disability¹²⁶ has been adopted by the Welsh Government since 2002, alongside a greater awareness of the role that inclusive housing can have in enabling older people (many living with frailty, chronic disease and disability) to live independently in the community. It has been recommended by an expert group in housing that the Welsh government "explore ways of developing market housing for rent or sale that are designed to meet the housing needs of an ageing population, ensuring that the contribution of this sector is maximised" ¹²². Actions such as this will lead to a greater supply of housing that is suitable and provide a broader choice of accommodation and lifestyle options to meet the diverse needs of the ageing population of Wales. The Welsh Government spends around £50 million per year on adapting the homes of older and disabled people, helping them to live safely and independently¹⁶. Minor adaptations to the home can prevent the need for hospital admission or allow those who are in hospital to be discharged earlier. Research conducted on behalf of the Office for Disability Issues in Wales, has noted that "delivery of Independent Living support to disabled people is more cost effective, or at least no more expensive, than traditional care provision" ¹²⁷.

Providing home care for people with low to moderate needs may avoid the need for more intense (and more expensive) home care, residential or hospital care in the future. If appropriate care is offered in the home there are opportunities for cost savings for health care achieved through a reduction in hospital care resource use (e.g. reduced A&E attendances, reduced admissions and length of hospital stays). There is a potential cost saving for local authorities who successfully enable older people to remain in the community compared with a stay in a residential setting. Older people using home care are more likely to have higher psychological wellbeing scores at a relatively low cost per unit increase¹²⁸. However, there is very little economic evidence relating to the UK home care context¹²⁹. NICE highlight the need for further economic evidence, particularly in the areas of evaluating home care intensity packages in the UK; telecare delivered as part of home care and specialist dementia support in a home setting.

Box 4.2 Home care: delivering personal care and practical support to older people living in their own homes [NG21, 2015]¹²⁸

Postponing entry into residential care by just one year through adapting homes saves £34,381.85⁺ per person¹³⁰. Home modifications can include adapted toilets, showers, lifting equipment and new heating systems. The Welsh Government supports 'Care & Repair Cymru' which is a national charitable body that supports older people to live in homes and communities that are suitable for their needs²⁶. Care & Repair Cymru's Rapid Response Adaptation Programme (RRAP) allows for a quick turnaround in housing adaptations for older people to decrease hospital admissions and to support efficient discharges from hospital. For every £1 invested in Care & Repair there are £7.50 of savings to the taxpayer¹⁷. In a survey of recipients, 4,472 (14%) of clients said they would have been unable to stay in their own homes without the assistance of Care & Repair, and 6,191 stated their independence had been improved by Care & Repair. Over 64% of Care & Repair services were provided for clients over 75, and 26% of total clients helped were over 85¹⁷.

Buildings specially designed for older people may include features such as a glass panel beside each front door and a colour-coded strip to aid visual orientation and enable people with dementia to recognise their own homes, letter-cages to catch the post from the floor, spy holes in the doors, corridors within the flats big enough to accommodate scooters, and charging-points. Such new buildings may also have central storage points for equipment; however, the cost of apartments may be high and cost-effectiveness needs to be considered¹³¹.

In Wales, despite the risk of older people being in poverty decreasing over the last 15 years, there are still an estimated 84,000 older people living in poverty, with 50,000 of those in 'severe' poverty¹³². This means a weekly income of £188.53† or less¹³³. Rising fuel prices, poor energy efficiency in many homes, complexity of switching between energy suppliers and low income result in an estimated 140,000 older households are living in fuel poverty, affecting some 360,000 older people²⁶. Particularly in rural parts of Wales, older people living in homes with solid rather than cavity walls, and not on mains gas supply, are more vulnerable to fuel poverty, due to living on fixed incomes and the cost of heating homes through oil and solid fuels^{132,134}.

Ability to pay for energy bills has been reported to be the greatest concern to older people, with more than a third of retired households reducing expenditure on food, heating and social activities as a result¹³². There is some strong evidence that deterioration in health is associated with worsening housing conditions¹³⁵. Risks of accidents and potential disability are reduced when homes are adapted appropriately²⁶. Excess winter deaths are defined as winter deaths minus average non-winter deaths. There were 24,300 'excess winter deaths' in England and Wales in 2015/16. Most of these deaths occurred in people aged 85 and over^{133,136}. The economic case for improving housing for high-risk groups of over 65s is outlined in NICE guidance on excess winter deaths (see Box 4.3).

According to Age UK in 2012, it was estimated that the cost of people living in homes that were too cold was around £1.36 billion per year in terms of demand for healthcare (primary and secondary care) and social care services. Age UK believe that implementing the NICE guidance¹⁸ on health risks associated with cold homes would reduce this demand and cost.

It is cost-effective to improve housing by providing heating and insulation for high-risk groups of over 65s (i.e. older people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or heart disease) from the perspective of the health sector (for this assumes that the health sector does not bear the full costs of the physical changes to the building fabric). The economic modelling also indicates that "in some cases, the full cost of the intervention could potentially be justified on the basis of the health benefits alone."¹⁸ The economic modelling which informed this guidance indicates that a specific targeted approach to investment (focusing on programmes targeting low energy efficiency homes where people were at risk of ill health) is more cost-effective than a broader approach to intervention (with programmes aimed at all homes where people were at risk of ill health).

The guidance further highlights that "fuel subsidies are less cost-effective than home energy efficiency measures, but the former may be more suitable over shorter time frames. That's because they avoid a large capital investment cost for people who may have a comparatively short life expectancy, or who expect to move home in a comparatively short period. Quantification of the risks and benefits associated with home energy efficiency and fuel subsidy interventions is based on a model involving a complex chain of assumed causal links. For some of those links, the evidence base is limited and the results should, therefore, be interpreted as indicative only."¹⁸

Box 4.3 Excess winter deaths and illness and the health risks associated with cold homes: the economic evidence [NG6, 2015]¹⁸

Reablement

Reablement has been defined as "services for people with poor physical or mental health to help them accommodate their illness by learning or re-learning the skills necessary for daily living" pg. 8¹¹⁴. Reablement is an example of an 'upstream' preventative service which may potentially provide 'downstream' savings¹³⁷. The economic case for reablement is described further in Box 4.4.

Reablement has been found to be a cost-effective way to reduce service costs through improving people's outcomes and reducing, delaying or preventing the need for health and social care¹³⁷. In Wales, reablement services are either funded through local authority spending or through Health Board budgets (and through joint working and joint funding in some instances), dependent on local authority and Health Board priorities¹³⁸.

Box 4.4 SCIE Research briefing 36: Reablement: a cost-effective route to better outcomes¹³⁷

The 'British Red Cross Support at Home Service' delivered in some parts of Wales involves activities such as assisting someone to return home after a hospital stay, ensuring they take their medication and more generally supporting people by re-building their confidence and independence¹³⁹. The programme can deliver cost savings of £880 per person, due to a reduction in care and support needs¹⁴⁰.

For older blind and partially sighted people, rehabilitation intervention is considered a key reablement service. It offers cost savings in terms of preventing loss of independence and reliance on other services by supporting people who need to learn a new set of skills such as washing, dressing, preparing meals, moving round the home safely, and taking responsibility for belongings¹⁴¹.

In a survey of Health Boards across Wales, reablement services were found to focus mainly on improving physical health and mobility, with comparatively little focus on the benefits of social interventions. Reablement offers long-term economic benefits for short-term interventions but requires adequate investment in order for appropriate and effective services to be developed¹³⁸. It is worth noting that different Health Boards across Wales use the terms reablement, intermediate care and enablement interchangeably¹³⁸.

Telehealth

Technology enabled care is a part of the Welsh Government's strategy on health and social care^{4,142}. Telehealth, telemedicine and telecare through telephone or video conferencing activities are taking place across Wales¹⁴³. However, in terms of video conferencing, there are a lack of dedicated video conferencing suites access in some Health Boards, such as Hywel Dda, Powys and Betsi Cadwaladr in North Wales, and this is seen as a barrier for the reablement teams. There is a greater scope to develop telehealth in Wales in order to minimise the need to travel to hospital by providing more home-based or local care in the community. This could reduce the cost for patients and carers. However, there are barriers to the potential cost-effectiveness of video conferencing, including set-up costs with administration; internet connectivity in the patient's home, and digital competency of the older person, who might prefer face to face contact. Telecare can provide a range of support including dementia support, falls prevention and securing home environments. Telecare is reasonably inexpensive (at an estimated £43 per person per week) and can be scaled-up¹⁴⁴. There are potential cost savings of up to £400 per person, per week when using telecare in the home environment compared to the cost of residential care¹⁴⁴.

Economic evaluations to explore the impact of investing in telecare and telehealth, particularly in a UK setting, are limited in number and quality¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁷. There is some strong evidence that telecare may be cost-effective for certain groups of adults with chronic conditions (e.g. cardiovascular disease)¹⁴⁸ and as a strategy to support people recently discharged from hospital following heart failure¹⁴⁹. However, the most comprehensive economic evidence of telecare in a UK setting highlights that it is not likely to be cost-effective compared with usual care alone¹⁵⁰.

5. Preventing loneliness and social isolation



5. Preventing loneliness and social isolation

In the UK many older people live in social isolation, with those over the age of 65 twice as likely as other age groups to spend over 21 hours of the day alone¹⁵¹. In Wales it is estimated that 17% of older people are lonely, and across the UK these figures rise considerably with age, with 63% of those aged 80 and over reporting loneliness²⁰. Social isolation and loneliness are strongly correlated with poor mental and physical health outcomes¹⁵² (see boxes 5.1 -5.3 below) and are more likely to require additional health and care support, for example, older people who are lonely are 3.5 times more likely to have early admission to residential care¹⁵³. Loneliness has a considerable impact on public sector resources, with significantly higher rates of GP visits, hospital admissions and accident and emergency visits compared to older people who self-describe as never lonely^{56,153,154}.

Loneliness and mental health

Older people who experience loneliness are more likely to experience depression^{155,156}. Loneliness and limited social interaction is also associated with an increased risk of suicide in older age¹⁵⁷.

Loneliness and cognitive decline

There is strong evidence that older people who experience loneliness are at greater risk of cognitive decline^{158,159} and are 64% more likely to develop clinical dementia¹⁶⁰.

Loneliness and poor physical health

Loneliness increases the likelihood of early death by 26%^{161,162}. The impact of loneliness on physical health is comparable to the impact of well-known risk factors such as obesity, and there is strong evidence to suggest that it has a similar influence as cigarette smoking²¹. There is convincing evidence that loneliness is associated with an increased risk of developing chronic physical conditions such as diabetes, coronary heart disease and stroke^{163,164}.

Boxes 5.1–5.3: Impact of loneliness on mental, cognitive and physical health

Poor health can also be an indirect cause of loneliness, particularly when poor health leads to a reduction in social interaction and participation, factors which are strongly correlated with loneliness in older age¹⁶⁵. Strong social networks have been shown to be key factors in protecting psychological and cognitive resilience^{162,166-168} and there is substantial evidence that social networks can reduce the risk of premature death by 50%²¹. Policy makers are encouraging the delivery of preventative health promotion initiatives to older people with the aim of reducing morbidity, increasing quality of life and limiting dependence on costly health and social care services^{66,151,169-173}. Loneliness can also have a negative effect on the mental and physical health of carers and further lead to increased financial expenditure and loss of carers own social interactions^{38,174}.

Maintaining mental wellbeing and independence has been cited as a best buy for public health **[see glossary]**¹⁹. Loneliness and social isolation has been recognised as important public health concern by the Older People's Commissioner for Wales¹⁷⁵. Loneliness amongst older men in particular is a growing problem in Wales¹⁷⁶. Older men in Wales have been identified as the loneliest group across the whole of the UK and have the potential to benefit most from early intervention to prevent loneliness^{20,175}. The current situation of high rates of loneliness in Wales is unaffordable for the NHS and social care services^{22,23}. Prevention is key to addressing this problem and requires

joint pro-active efforts by all the agencies and public sectors concerned with the wellbeing of older people. The costs and benefits of loneliness prevention fall across multiple sectors and society, therefore, a private and public sector multi-agency **[see glossary]** response is required²⁴. This 'whole system' response to loneliness needs to also address the many social engagement barriers faced by older people such as issues around suitable accessibility and age-friendly environments, particularly considering very practical things such as transport and toilets³². (See Box 5.4).

Keeping older people independent and mentally well has been found to be beneficial and cost saving in terms of interventions to prevent loneliness and increase quality of life¹⁷⁷. Strong UK based evidence highlights that community based singing interventions can help maintain and enhance mental health related quality of life and are likely to be cost-effective (compared to usual activities) for people aged 60 years and above¹⁷⁸. In Wales, Tenovus Cancer Care 'Sing with Us' choirs have been set up in South, Mid and North Wales and bring together people of all ages including many older people who have been a patient, survivor, carer or someone who has been bereaved through cancer¹⁷⁹. While cost-effectiveness has not been evaluated to our knowledge, the 'Sing with Us' choirs provide an example of a shared funding model with weekly participant donations of £2 which can help offset the total costs of programme delivery.

Echoing the call from Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE) for greater inclusion of cost measures in future loneliness research¹⁸⁰, NICE highlights the need for further economic research in this area, particularly in:

- 1 Exploring the cost-effectiveness of UK interventions that aim to protect at-risk groups of older people where there is an increase chance of social isolation and decline in independence and mental wellbeing;
- 2 Identifying the key factors of the 'local coordination role' to ensure best value for money in promoting older peoples mental wellbeing and independence;
- 3 Exploring cost-effectiveness of preventative interventions for mid-life groups most atrisk of experiencing poor mental health in later life.

Providing activities for older people needs funding from existing sources. Additional costs may be offset by savings from reductions in the number of GP appointments associated with falls, diabetes, stroke and coronary heart disease, depression and dementia.

Box 5.4 NICE guidelines on 'Older people: independence and mental wellbeing' – the economic evidence [NG32, 2015]¹⁸¹

5. Preventing loneliness and social isolation



Effective and cost-effective interventions to prevent loneliness and social isolation

There are a wide range of interventions to address social isolation or loneliness, including one-toone interventions, group based activities and wider community engagement¹⁸². The consensus on the most effective type of intervention or which sector should be responsible for its delivery remains uncertain^{170,180,182}. While there is extensive literature highlighting the opportunities for investment in social isolation and loneliness prevention initiatives, such as friendship programmes, the availability of economic evidence on relative cost-effectiveness is limited^{36,180}.

It is estimated that the delivery of effective interventions such as friendship programmes to prevent loneliness and reduce future use of public services could have modest life-time savings of up to $\pounds 2,075.40^{+153}$. Furthermore, interim reports on the decision analytic modelling of the long term cost of loneliness by the London School of Economics estimated that there are potential cost savings to society of approximately $\pounds 7.2$ million† over ten years through averting loneliness¹⁸³.

Effective loneliness prevention interventions delivered with fidelity [**see glossary**] at scale have the potential to produce cost savings across public sectors^{32,153,183}. McDaid and colleagues modelled the effects of reducing loneliness and estimated a saving of £1,700 per person over a 10 year period, these savings were accrued through the avoidance of unplanned hospital admissions and avoidance of excess GP consultations. Further costs savings were estimated from averting the need for dementia services¹⁸³. In general terms, group based activities to reduce loneliness among older people can be more cost-effective than one-to-one health promotion interventions by definition (as they have a lower cost per person) and there is some evidence to suggest that they may be more successful as loneliness prevention initiatives compared to individual support¹⁸². Strong, trial based evidence from a Finnish study found that socially stimulating group activities can not only reduce isolation and loneliness in older people, but they can also improve wellbeing and cognitive function and were cost-effective¹⁸⁴. From reviewing the literature on the economic evidence of interventions to address loneliness amongst older age groups, the following interventions are explored below:

Friendship programmes

Befriending interventions may be highly cost-effective and have the potential to produce a net saving to society³³. They are commonly run by voluntary or community organisations, often involving one-to-one friendship activities³⁸. They can be delivered at a relatively low cost (approximately £105.90† per person per year) and result in quality of life improvements, reduced rates of depression and may result in savings in health and social care resource spending³⁸.

Telephone befriending can be effective at reducing social isolation in older people and can be delivered at a low cost^{37,185}. Teleconferencing has been proposed as a cost-effective strategy for reducing loneliness and increasing social interaction, especially in geographically isolated areas³⁷ however no economic evaluation was identified to assess this evidence further. More recent pilot trials of telephone befriending have highlighted barriers to recruiting and retaining volunteer call handlers, which may pose challenges to successful implementation¹⁸⁶.

Targeting at risk groups is likely to be more effective than interventions for all older people (e.g. older people discharged from hospital, people living alone, carers, recently bereaved)³² and may offer greater return on investment³⁸.

Friendship enrichment programmes for women can be effective at improving health and be costsaving. These types of programme may not necessarily be delivered by the health service (to whom the benefits commonly fall) but instead by voluntary or community organisations. Delivered as a low cost intervention (£77 – £120 per person per year), there are estimated total savings to the health service of £391 per individual and quality adjusted life years (QALYs) [**see glossary**] gained of 0.035 (equivalent to just under two weeks of additional full health related quality of life) for each individual¹⁸⁷. These estimated savings equate to a return of £5.10 for every £1 spent³³.

Programmes which bring together generations can have bi-directional benefits in the sense that older people can gain enjoyment from interaction with children, while children can gain confidence, language skills and an appreciation for older adults²⁸⁻³⁰. International evidence of intergenerational programmes indicates that opportunities for older people to support the learning of children through social education could be cost-effective and even cost-saving³¹. Sharing facilities and overheads through intergenerational programmes may prove an economically rational way of achieving bi-directional benefits, such as reducing loneliness in older people, and improving social skills of children⁷⁹.

Technology assisted programmes

Communication technologies such as email and video call tools such as Skype can make keeping in touch easier when grown up children live far apart or for older adults living in more rural settings²⁰, subject to broadband availability. Evidence of the potential value of new technologies on loneliness prevention is mixed but internet training may be a cost-effective way to support older people and enable them to maintain good social links, particularly for older people living in very rural communities^{32,33}. This is relevant to us in Wales. However relying on modern technology for communication may also have negative effects on the health and wellbeing of older people as they have fewer human interactions, and have fewer reasons to leave the house (if they are able to do so)¹⁸⁸.

Internet use can decrease loneliness and help older people retain social ties, particularly among adults in assisted and independent living communities¹⁸⁹. Group-based internet and computer training interventions may be cost-effective with an estimated cost per QALY of £16,238.99†³³, which is below the maximum threshold of £20,000 - £30,000 per QALY recommended by NICE¹⁹⁰. The Plymouth SeniorNet programme showed that older people value help with using the internet more than many other forms of practical help¹⁹¹. An annual value for being online might, therefore be £1,017.35† – £1,322.56†. Though not a full Social Return on Investment (SROI) [**see glossary**] study, it is interesting as it highlights the relative importance to older people of learning to use and maintaining access to the internet.

Arts and crafts based interventions

Arts based interventions may be effective at reducing loneliness and can offer a substantial return on investment^{32,34}. There is some support for the use of 'arts on prescription', one form of 'social prescribing' ¹⁹² "where GPs have referred patients to arts projects aware of the positive effect that these are likely to have on their morale and sense of enjoyment in life at very low cost" pg. 14¹⁹³. According to the King's Fund, social prescribing is an example of an innovative and growing movement, with the potential to reduce the financial pressure on primary care in the NHS¹⁹⁴. Connecting people to non-medial and community support services is sometimes referred to as 'social prescribing'.

Based on the principle of co-production, the Craft Café was established in the Glasgow area as a pilot aimed to encourage older people to prevent issues of loneliness and social exclusion themselves by reconnecting with their communities in a safe, supportive and creative environment and learning new craft skills. It has been successfully trialled in areas of multiple deprivation, targeting groups of older people at high risk of social isolation (e.g. older people living alone). A SROI analysis has estimated that there is £8.27of social value generated for every pound of investment³⁴. Research led by Bangor University on the benefits of arts activities for people living with dementia and their carers, with centres in North Wales, North East England and Derbyshire, will help to establish the SROI^{195,196}.

Community based programmes

Older people living across Wales have a wide range of interests. For example, the University of the 3rd age (U3A) is an international organisation which is active across Wales, e.g. coordinating a coastline project, archaeology and anthropology projects, and holding community discussions about philosophy, politics and culture. These events are organised by, and are for older people in Wales. U3A in conjunction with Cymru Older Peoples Alliance (COPA), Learning and work institute, Men's Sheds Cymru, The Open University and Royal Voluntary Service organise learning and employability events including supporting digital inclusion. Such networks and collaborations need evaluation as they may provide a return on investment, which is as yet unknown.

There is evidence that group activities around interests can be cost-effective. These can facilitate the building of potential friendships and the empowerment of older people. Group activities include arts, writing groups, exercise and health discussion groups, swimming, strength training and dancing¹⁷³. Psychosocial programmes to promote such activities had resulted in mean net reduction in health care costs of £901.36⁺⁺ per person per year ¹⁷⁷, illustrating a saving of £59.26⁺⁺ per person per year.

Men's Sheds, an initiative originally from Australia, has been shown to provide social support to older men at risk of social isolation and help build self-esteem through the development of friendship with other men³⁵. Older men who engage in the programme work as volunteers or engage in shed based craft activities, such as wood turning, which can also contribute back to the community. Economic analysis of the first Men's Shed implemented in Scotland indicates a SROI of £10 for every £1³⁵. There are an estimated 35 Men's Sheds across Wales¹⁹⁷.

Loneliness prevention interventions that help older people achieve and maintain a sense of community and belonging appear to support positive mental health and can be effective at preventing social isolation³². In Wales the Welsh language is a common interest of many community groups and 'Welsh societies' providing Welsh language lectures on different topics, coffee mornings and evening meals are common in many areas, e.g. Cymdeithas Gymraeg Dinbych (Denbigh Welsh Society). Membership groups such as these provide opportunities for Welsh speakers to get together, build and maintain friendships.

Community navigator services or 'gatekeeper' programmes can successfully identify and refer on socially isolated older people who have not routinely come to the attention of services^{36,37}. These programmes are likely to be cost-effective³⁷, essentially delivered as a social prescribing service they offer a range of potential economic benefits, including "a reduction in employment disruption (as a result of mental health problems, for example) or job loss, fewer GP visits (once an individual's health needs have been assessed and treated), better health and generally greater well-being" pg. 8³⁸. Modelling of the costs and potential benefits has identified a mean net saving, with programme costs of between £353.00- £564.80† per person per year, greatly outweighed by economic benefits of £1059.00† per person in the first year³⁸. Successful gatekeeper programmes tend to be community driven, develop good communication links with agencies and overall build community capacity³⁷. Community Navigators have been implemented in Wales as a Denbighshire County Council initiative facilitated by employees from the Red Cross and Age Connects¹³⁹.

Although there are no published Wales based evaluations of the social isolation reduction services, evidence from other areas of the UK including the Gloucestershire Village and Community Agents programme indicates an overall positive return on investment of £3.10 for every £1 spent, with potential benefits including savings from loneliness and social isolation interventions such as befriending services, social activities, transport and volunteering¹⁹⁸. Living Well Cornwall operates in a similar way to other community based navigator programmes with a trained Age UK co-ordinator that can conduct motivational interviews to support and empower older people to identify and access existing resources. The pilot phase return on investment analysis indicates that at a cost of

5. Preventing loneliness and social isolation

approximately £406.94† per person during the time period they are involved in the Living Well Cornwall programme can result in a minimum 29% reduction in hospital admissions and between 20 – 23% improvement in wellbeing scores²⁴. It is estimated that for every £1 invested in the programme a £4 return will be achieved²⁴.

Local Area Coordination is a preventative approach that can help older people who may become isolated better navigate the social care and health system, build links within their communities and in general build community capacity. Local Area Coordinators have been successfully piloted and evaluated in socio-economically deprived areas of Wales¹⁹⁹. Local Area Coordinators generate a positive return on investment, with a return of between £2 and £4 for every £1 invested^{199,200}.

Community-based exercise programmes have been evaluated as effective interventions for older people living in the community²⁰¹. Although no financial proxies are provided for benefits, a budget impact of implementation analysis proposes a first year cost of approximately £147.09⁺[†].

Reports on the Rotherham Social Prescribing Scheme indicate a potential long-term return on investment of £3.38 (if benefits are sustained over a five year period) with programme benefits including a significant reduction in inpatient admission, A&E attendances and outpatient appointments²⁰². There is some variation in the potential positive return on investment of social prescribing, with estimates over a three year period equating to a slightly lower return of £1.98 per £1 investment for NHS savings and £1.11 per £1 invested for wider wellbeing benefits, indicating that a positive return on investment could be expected in the long term (three or more years)²⁰³.

LinkAge is a charity run within Bristol, operating with a core aim of reducing isolation and loneliness for people aged 55 and over²⁴. LinkAge functions based on the principles of co-production, with a local advisory group of older people involved at its core in the running and development of the programme. The programme has a number of community hubs which enable older people to find out what is available within their local community and access a range of activities including cooking, choirs, walking football and yoga. In addition to targeting loneliness and improving outcomes such as wellbeing, happiness and physical activity levels, the programme has an intergenerational element which aims to challenge age stereotypes and celebrate cultural diversity. The organisation relies heavily on volunteers and has developed internal sustainability through empowering older people who begin as service users to become volunteers themselves. A 2012 SROI analysis found that for every £1 invested, the programme would generate a minimum of £1.20 in social benefit²⁴.

There are a number of initiatives to address issues of isolation and loneliness being delivered across Wales¹³⁹; however, there are a limited number of economic evaluations that have been published. While the reports summarised within this section are indicative of potential savings or generated economic or social returns, the estimates are based on predictions from modelling exercises or return on investment analysis, the majority of which are published in grey literature which has not been subject to critical peer review. Particularly with return on investment estimates reported in organisation public facing reports, there are limited details of the methodology used available to enable critical appraisal of the evidence. Achieving the savings is dependent on the availability of effective and cost-effective interventions³⁸.



6. Caring for older carers

For this section on caring for older carers, grey literature (from Wales and worldwide) and more international literature found in the rapid review are reported. Some of this evidence is weak in the sense that they are reports and not empirical research (n=6), some are of moderate quality in terms of evidence (n=12), and some are stronger in terms of quality of evidence, and these are particularly the articles reported in peer-reviewed journals (n=37) (see technical appendix).

As people become older and less able to manage the activities of daily living, the need for others to provide care increases²⁰⁴. This is especially true for older people who have cancer or who have suffered strokes or have dementia. The terms 'informal carer' or 'caregiver' refer to an unpaid family member, friend, or neighbour who provides care to a person who needs assistance to manage tasks such as taking medications, feeding, bathing and dressing²⁰⁴.

Across the UK, over 1.4 million carers are caring for more than 50 hours per week²⁰⁵. This is equivalent to the work of 1.3 million NHS staff²⁰⁶. Carers can be the key factor that can keep someone living at home or prevent admission to hospital or residential care. In Wales⁴², 32% of the adult population over 50 years old are carers³⁹. It is estimated that three in every five people will at some point in their lives become a carer²⁰⁷. Of the carers in Wales, 58% are female and 42% are male³⁹. There is a large variation in the estimates of the economic contribution of all carers in the UK, from a saving of £91†billion every year in potential care costs⁴⁰ to an economic value of the contribution made by carers of £139†billion per year⁴¹. In Wales, unpaid older carers save the Welsh economy an estimated £1.88 billion†* in care costs, and this figure is predicted to rise to £2.44 billion* by 2030¹⁴. Other estimates indicate that the value of total carer contributions in Wales could in fact be considerably higher at an estimated £8.15 billion† per year⁴¹.

In the UK, the highest proportion of unpaid carers reside in Neath Port Talbot, South Wales, where 14.6% of the population provide unpaid care³⁹. Compared to the rest of the UK, Wales has a higher number of older carers who are often themselves in poor health⁴⁰. People who are frail and older may need more support than those who are younger and more able, and this can affect the quality of life of caregivers in terms of more stress, anxiety and depression, as well as general health problems such as strained backs associated with carrying and lifting²⁰⁸.

It has been widely reported that unpaid carers are effectively propping up the health and socialcare systems in Wales⁴⁰. There is interdependence between the health of patients and their informal caregivers and health care costs. There is strong evidence that caregivers' use of health care services increases as their caregiving load increases⁴³. In the USA, strong evidence suggests that spouses of people with dementia have higher monthly Medicare use than spouses of people without dementia²⁰⁹. There is strong evidence that spouse caregivers of people with dementia have greater cognitive decline compared to other spouse caregivers²¹⁰.

The cost of not caring for carers is very high. Six in ten carers report reaching breaking point at some point in time²⁰⁵. Recent reports have recommended that more funding should be provided for social care and that financial support should be provided for carers, including the right to paid care leave and policies that would enable carers to stay in work⁴¹.

Effective and cost-effective interventions to support older carers

Apart from the direct costs of caring for older people, there are also costs of providing care to older carers who are in need of social, medical and psychological support. There is strong evidence to suggest that interventions such as support groups have an impact on caregivers' psychological wellbeing, depression and social outcomes²¹¹. Interventions such as psychoeducational groups may have positive effects on wellbeing, and depression. Educational groups may provide useful information such as caregiving skills, adjusting to the role of carer, information on legal issues, role play and discussion, and facilitate caregivers finding available resources to reduce carer load. Strong evidence suggests that the extent of behavioural problems and the ability to undertake activities of daily living (ADL) are important drivers of resource use and costs²¹². Estimated costs and likely cost-effectiveness of providing care for carers vary considerably depending on the type of intervention.



Respite

Respite care can be provided in the home or in the community to provide relief to the caregiver from their caregiving responsibilities²⁰⁸. A high quality systematic review in 2007 regarding the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of respite for caregivers of frail older people found mixed results²⁰⁸. The economic evaluations from five of the studies reviewed²¹³⁻²¹⁷ all focused on day care-based respite care, which tended to be associated with similar or higher costs than usual care²⁰⁸.

The cost of day care was statistically significantly higher than usual care when assessed on local and national unit costs²¹⁷. None of the studies included in the review²⁰⁸ included generic health-related quality of life measures, making cost-effectiveness comparisons with other health and social care programmes problematic. Economic evaluation of host-family respite was also missing from this evidence review.

There is strong evidence that day care respite is effective in reducing caregiver responsibilities^{213,214,216,217}, and depression amongst caregivers²¹⁸. A range of services supporting the care of the frail elderly is probably most appropriate⁴⁴. A flexible approach to respite provision would benefit carers as the care recipient's needs change over time ⁴⁴. Therefore, whilst there is some evidence to support respite having a positive effect on carers, the economic evidence is still limited and there is a need for more robust, high-quality and larger trials that include economic evaluations⁴⁴.

Psychosocial interventions for carers of people with dementia

Psychosocial interventions in the form of befriending services and psychosocial education and support have been evaluated recently for carers of people with dementia with mixed results.

Strong evidence suggests that family meetings as an intervention to reduce carer load are unlikely to be a cost-effective intervention for caregivers and persons with dementia²¹⁹.

There is strong evidence to suggest that psychosocial education (educating and informing the caregiver) and support for carers of patients with dementia can be cost-effective at an estimated cost of £100.08⁺⁺ per family caregiver⁴⁵.

Befriending interventions (access to a befriending facilitator) can improve the psychological wellbeing and quality of life of carers of people with dementia. Despite this, uptake of such services is not high²²⁰. The total cost from a societal point of view can be £2,407.36† per carer, but access to a befriender facilitator is neither an effective nor a cost-effective intervention in the support of carers of people with dementia²²⁰.

Tailored activity programmes for carers of people with dementia

Strong evidence from the USA highlights Tailored Activity Programmes (TAP) delivered by occupational therapists as a cost-effective intervention which can provide family carers of people with dementia with valuable time off from caregiving⁴⁶. Caregivers saved one extra hour per day 'doing things' at a cost of £1.65†† a day and one extra hour per day 'being on duty', at a cost of £0.86†† ⁴⁶.

There is strong evidence from economic analyses from a public sector perspective that joint person with dementia and caregiver reminiscence groups are unlikely to be cost-effective. There is mixed evidence with regard to the effectiveness of reminiscence therapy, which works with early memories, often intact in dementia, drawing on preserved abilities, rather than emphasising impairments. The REMCARE programme, developed and researched in Wales, had an average cost of £10,222.04⁺ per programme of 19 sessions²²¹. While people with dementia experienced improved autobiographical memory, relationship quality and overall quality of life

following the REMCARE sessions, their carers reported negative outcomes following attendance at joint reminiscence groups, including an increase in anxiety and raised stress levels²²¹.

Dementia

Dementia is a significant public health issue in Wales. Ischemic heart disease has been replaced by Alzheimer's disease as the leading cause of death (11.6% of all deaths registered in 2015)²²². Approximately 42,000 people in Wales have dementia²²³. Dementia affects one in fourteen people over the age of 65 years old and one in six people over the age of 80 years old²²⁴. As life expectancy increases, there will be more older people living in Wales and so more people with dementia²²³.

In Wales, we are learning more about life in older age through the Cognitive Function and Ageing Study (CFAS Wales), funded by ESRC, following 5,000 older people living across Wales²²⁵. Between 15-20% of all older people aged 65 and over in Wales are bilingual in Welsh and English^{226,227}. There is strong evidence that bilingualism has cognitive benefits and may have particular benefits for older people, including the later onset of cognitive decline^{228,229}. There is strong evidence to suggest that native bilingual Welsh/English speakers with Alzheimer's disease may retain some benefits in inhibition and management of response conflict, compared with their monolingual English only speaking peers²³⁰. The underlying reasons and cost implications of later dementia diagnosis for Welsh speakers warrants further investigation and has been argued to be a factor of delayed diagnosis rather than delayed onset²³⁰. Timely diagnosis means treatment and care can begin sooner.

The cost of dementia in Wales

Dementia is estimated to cost the Welsh economy £1.47 billion† per year⁴⁷. In terms of health care costs, £206.13 million† is spent each year and in terms of social care costs £562.65 million† is spent annually (publicly and privately funded) in Wales. In Wales, £654.15 million† is contributed by the work of unpaid carers of people with dementia per annum and £6.31 million† is spent on other costs, including police costs of missing person enquiries, advocacy services and research.⁴⁷

Examples of cost-effective interventions for people with dementia

Between 15% and 60% of people with dementia wander and it can be problematic for carers. The individual with dementia may come to physical harm or experience emotional distress which may lead to early institutionalisation²³¹. In the USA the 'iWander' android application has been reported to be a cost-effective way to remotely monitor wandering individuals with dementia²¹³. Carers are alerted when the individual with dementia wanders to an abnormal location. The application guides the user back home and alerts the caregiver to the whereabouts of the individual with dementia.

Strong evidence suggests that psychosocial interventions can postpone nursing home placements. A psychosocial intervention for family carers in Sweden found that counselling sessions and conversation groups resulted in postponing nursing home placements for people with dementia, compared with standard care arrangements²³³.

Peer support for people with dementia and carers has been shown to give a positive return on investment. A study looked at three dementia peer support groups in South London and found that the groups created social value ranging from £1.17 to £5.18 for every pound invested. Benefits for people with dementia included mental stimulation and a reduction in loneliness and isolation. Wider benefits to carers included reduction in stress and demands of care. Volunteers helping with groups reported an increased knowledge of dementia⁴⁸.

NICE and Welsh Government guidelines on dementia are outlined in Box 6.1.

NICE guidelines suggest that taking action in midlife makes it possible to prevent or delay the onset of dementia, frailty and disability²³⁴. Recent public health guidance suggest the following to prevent avoidable problems in old age:

- 1. Maintaining a healthy weight
- 2. Eating healthily
- 3. Keeping active
- 4. Reducing alcohol consumption
- 5. Stopping smoking

There is strong evidence that being physically active is essential for good health and wellbeing²³⁵. In the UK physical activity has been estimated to have the greatest influence on the dementia risk factors studied²³⁶. Most recently a study from Japan has added to the evidence base that walking regularly through middle age is a protective factor against the development of dementia²³⁷. There is strong evidence to suggest that increasing physical activity can aid in the prevention of the onset of dementia. Physical activity can increase life expectancy and can result in decreased spending on health and social care. Therefore, if prevention is targeted at the physically inactive, savings in dementia-related costs may outweigh the additional spending in life years gained²³⁸.

People in middle age are also encouraged to be more socially active and mentally stimulated to reduce dementia risk by relieving stress, improving mood and reducing the risk of loneliness and depression⁴⁹.

Box 6.1 NICE guidelines [NG16], 2015]²³⁴ and Welsh Government guidelines on dementia, disability and frailty in later life – mid-life approaches to delay or prevent onset

Behavioural interventions for carers of people with dementia

Strong evidence suggests that delivery of a manual based therapy intervention programme (delivered by psychology graduates without clinical qualifications in addition to usual treatment) in promoting the mental health of family carers of people with dementia was cost-effective compared with treatment as usual²³⁹. At a societal willingness to pay threshold of £500, the probability that this intervention would be cost-effective is 95%. At a £30,000 per QALY willingness-to-pay threshold there is a greater than 99% chance of the manual based coping strategy programme being cost-effective compared to usual treatment alone²⁴⁰.

Strong evidence from the US suggests that behavioural interventions can help carers of people with dementia manage their time more effectively. At the end of six months, there was a significant difference between intervention caregivers and control caregivers in hours providing care. The caregivers in the intervention group had more time to do something non-caregiving. For the six months the total cost for each intervention caregiver was £1,072.62⁺⁺, and the total cost for each control caregiver was £47.71⁺⁺. The ICER **[see glossary]** showed that, for an additional hour of non-caregiving time per day, intervention costs were £4.38⁺⁺ per day per caregiver (£789.00⁺⁺ in total over 6 months)²⁴¹. Behavioural interventions are a viable mechanism to support caregivers of people with dementia²⁴². An average annual saving of £3,374.78⁺⁺ was estimated for a specific behavioural intervention for veterans with dementia with no extra financial costs to the carer.

7. Preventing falls and reducing hospital stays



7. Preventing falls and reducing hospital stays

Older people can be at risk of falling due to balance problems, muscle weakness, poor vision, and long-term health conditions, such as heart disease, dementia or low blood pressure (hypotension), which can lead to dizziness and a brief loss of consciousness²⁴³. This is exacerbated in people over 65 years if they take little or no exercise⁵².

Falls are a major cause of disability and death in older people in Wales, with falls the most common cause of injury in people aged 65 years and older⁵⁰. Following a fall, 28% of older people die within a year⁵⁷, and for those who suffered a hip fracture, half 'never returned to their previous level of independence,' and approximately 20% entered a care home⁷².

Around 30% of adults who are over 65 years and living at home will experience at least one fall a year. This accounts for more than 4 million hospital bed days²⁴⁴. In Wales, it is estimated that between 230,000 and 460,000 people over the age of 60 fall every year and between 115,000 and 230,000 older people fall more than once per year⁵⁰. Most falls result in no serious injury, but annually approximately 5% of older people living in the community who fall experience a fracture or need hospitalisation⁷² mainly due to arm, leg or shoulder injuries. According to the literature, in Wales, between 11,500 to 45,900 people suffer a fracture, head injury or serious cuts from falling, this equates to between 32 and 126 serious injury falls per day in Wales²⁴⁵.

As people get older, maintaining muscle strength and the ability to balance are crucial to reducing the risk of falling. Strength and balance are also key to helping people to live independently for longer. Preventing falls in older people continues to be a key issue in the health promotion of older people in Wales^{1,50}. Falls are a source of harm to older people, and research into the prevention of falls is especially important considering the frequency of strokes and bone-related conditions²⁴⁶. Falls are the third major cause of disablement for older people according to the World Health Organisation²⁴⁷.

The risk of death or serious injury arising from a fall increases with age. This level of risk may be due to physical, sensory, and cognitive changes associated with ageing, in combination with environments that are not adapted for an ageing population²⁴⁷.

Falls have an impact on the quality of life of individuals, their family and society²⁴⁸. Even 'minor' falls can be very debilitating. Individuals can lose confidence and become nervous about falling again. This means they may become unwilling to move about, and as a result become more isolated and more dependent on others. This leads to greater concerns for carers, and an increased likelihood that an individual will need residential care⁵⁷.

There are a number of strategies to address the issue of falls in Wales, ranging from prevention through to treatment. Falls prevention initiatives can reduce the number of falls by 15-30% and well organised services, based on national standards and evidence-based guidelines, can prevent falls and reduce death and disability from fractures⁵⁰. Generic guidelines and implementation guidelines are available from the European ProFouND falls prevention network²⁴⁹. These guidelines encompass multifactorial interventions; exercise interventions; medication reviews and medical interventions; home and environment interventions; feet and footwear interventions; vision and vision aids; and falls detection and prevention technologies. Falls prevention strategies should emphasise education, training, creating safer environments, prioritising fall-related research and establishing effective policies to reduce risk²⁴⁷.

Effective and cost-effective interventions to prevent falls

Prevention is key to addressing the cost of falls and requires joint pro-active efforts to ageing well. Preventative strategies are cost-effective in both the short and longer term⁵¹. Reducing the risk of stroke through smoking cessation and healthy eating are examples of primary care level interventions to reduce the risk of falls, but other more intense interventions can be more closely linked to falls prevention in terms of potential cost savings. Tertiary interventions, such as exercise programmes²⁵⁰, can be low cost compared to multiagency complex interventions²⁵¹ which involve primary, secondary and tertiary care. NICE guidelines on preventing falls are outlined in Box 7.1.

Prevention of falls is a high priority for the NHS as averted costs of care can be significant⁵⁰. Many people who were living independently before their fall and fracture lose their independence afterwards²⁵². It also has an impact on loneliness as older people become less inclined to take risks and become more withdrawn from society⁵⁷. The impact of falls is wide, as it not only affects the individual, but also puts more demands on carers and health and social services in Wales.

By reducing the risk of falls, and therefore hospital attendances, the Welsh government can save money in terms of reducing spending on NHS resources in Wales and keeping older people out of residential care homes. Falls are estimated to cost the NHS in the UK more than £2.3 billion per year⁵⁰. It is estimated that preventative action such as physiotherapy for older people could reduce falls in Wales by 9,396 each year, a saving to the NHS of more than £15.87million per year⁵².

Avoiding hospital admissions through well-designed community-based interventions targeting falls prevention among older people are highly cost-effective^{55–57}. Most recently in Wales, in line with principles of prudent health care, Aging Well in Wales brings together various initiatives including the 'Steady on Stay Safe' campaign.

Modelling can be used to explore falls prevention strategies on a population-wide basis and such economic models have shown that population-wide fall prevention programmes can avoid costs to individuals and the health service²⁵³⁻²⁵⁵. Trial results can be tested through modelling in order to clarify which elements of a project are driving the cost-effectiveness²⁵⁶. Real-life situations, such as history of fall events, are considered within Markov models to ensure the accuracy of modelling estimates²⁵⁷.

According to the NICE guidance on falls in older people, "preventing falls and fractures could reduce hospital costs. For example, avoiding a hip fracture might save hospital admission costs averaging £5744 per patient."^{72,258}

Providing prevention of falls initiatives may be cost-effective in reducing the risk of falls among older people. However, NICE highlight a scarcity of UK-based cost-effectiveness studies of falls prevention interventions and recommend future research is conducted in this area. In addition, further research to explore the most effective and cost-effective environmental adaptations aimed at reducing the risk of falling in older inpatients is recommended. Carried over from the 2004 guidance, research identifying cost-effective components of multifactorial programmes for particular groups of older people in different settings is recommended as a key priority. Guidelines for incorporating economic evaluations in falls prevention trials have been published²⁵⁹.

Box 7.1NICE clinical guidance on 'falls in older people assessing risk and prevention', the economic evidence base^{72,258} [CG161, 2013]

7. Preventing falls and reducing hospital stays

There are potential cost savings from delivering falls prevention interventions to particular subgroups of older people at high risk of falling²⁶⁰. The Chartered Society of Physiotherapy have estimated that without greater investment in falls prevention in Wales, there will be 18.2% more care home admissions due to falls by 2020⁵². From reviewing the literature on the economic evidence of interventions to prevent falls amongst older age groups, the following interventions are explored below:

Evidence on interventions to prevent falls is mixed.

A cost-effectiveness and cost-utility analysis study in the Netherlands found that a multidisciplinary intervention programme to prevent falls was not cost-effective compared with usual care. Although the intervention programme was cost-neutral, it did not prevent falls or functional decline and did not improve quality of life²⁵¹. Another cost-effectiveness study to investigate the multifactorial falls prevention programme for community-dwelling older adults was conducted in Canada²⁶¹. The mean fall-related health service cost was £80.98†† for the intervention group and £79.83†† for usual care. The overall incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) was estimated to be £70,134.04†† per fall prevented. The lack of cost-effectiveness observed was driven by the lack of effectiveness of the intervention in reducing falls. However, cost-effectiveness was shown in a five year community-based safety promotion programme for older people in Sweden where the community-based intervention was as cost-effective as osteoporosis pharmaceuticals²⁶².

A multi-factorial falls programme in England also found that the falls rate was lower, and the estimated ICER was £3906.52† per fall averted following the leaflet and day hospital educational intervention²⁶³. Other initiatives such as a multimedia patient education programme provided with trained health professional have been found to be cost-effective in reducing the wider associated cost of falls²⁶⁴. The cost of preventing one older person becoming a faller was £333.69††²⁶⁴.

In Australia, a hip fracture service including co-admission under an orthopaedic and a geriatric team decreased the length of hospital stay after a hip fracture from 26 to 22 days on average, saving an estimated £575,350.34†† as patients could be discharged to a rehabilitation centre or to their homes sooner²⁶⁵.

A Markov based simulation model was conducted to establish the effectiveness of a multifactorial falls prevention programme. Compared to no prevention, such a programme for residents of nursing homes would result in a cost–effectiveness ratio of £17,014.57†† per QALY²⁵⁴.

There is emerging evidence that multicomponent cognitive behaviour group interventions are cost-effective to reduce fear of falling. In a study from the Netherlands, the fear of falls intervention group cost of £3924.35⁺⁺ (cost of running a group over a 14 month period) was not significantly higher than the control group cost of £4,857.40⁺⁺. In addition, beneficial effects of the programme were observed for fear of falling and activity avoidance²⁶⁶.

Exercise interventions

Physical inactivity is a major cause of reduced quality of life, as well as many common diseases and even premature death. Physical inactivity influences the burden of disease and increases societal costs²⁶⁷. Exercise is commonly acknowledged as a best buy for public health²⁶⁸. Evaluations of the National Exercise Referral Scheme in Wales have shown more generally that exercise is cost-effective (compared to usual care) for older people over 60 at risk of coronary heart disease with an ICER of £16,061.58⁺²⁶⁹.

Systematic reviews on falls prevention strategies for older people have found that falls can be prevented by certain exercise programmes for certain groups²⁷⁰. For example, exercises which target balance can prevent up to 40% of falls²⁷¹. There is some strong evidence to suggest that some community-based falls prevention exercise programmes are relatively inexpensive (at around

£127.94-£236.26⁺⁺ per programme completer) and programme longevity is important in achieving lower long-term average costs²⁷².

There is a return on investment of over £4 when £1 is invested in physiotherapy for falls prevention⁵². Some exercise programmes have been found to benefit some specific groups of older people²⁷³. Group-based exercise programs aimed at falls prevention in older community dwelling population are more likely to provide value for money when targeted at women only due to their higher likelihood of fall-related injury²⁷⁴. Community falls based interventions for older people have been found to provide positive net benefits. For example, the tai chi: Moving for Better Balance intervention had a net benefit of £373.55†† and a ROI of £5.09 for every £1 invested⁵⁴. There is evidence from economic modelling that tai chi is also a cost-effective exercise intervention for older adults living in the community, the incremental cost per fall avoided is around £1,816.88††⁵³.

People living with Parkinson's disease can benefit from an exercise intervention, however a study conducted in England found no statistically significant differences between the exercise intervention group and the control group in total health care combined health and social care costs²⁷³. A t'ai chi ch'üan (t'ai chi) exercise programme represented a cost-effective strategy for optimizing spending to prevent falls and maximize health gains in people with Parkinson's disease²⁵⁰. There is strong evidence that exercise interventions for those with Parkinson's disease may be more cost-effective for individuals with an early diagnosis of Parkinson's disease, in the low disease severity group compared with those with more severe or complex needs²⁷⁵.

The application of these findings to a Wales context needs careful consideration, for example the cost per fall avoided presented in some studies do not take into account the training of t'ai chi exercise instructors.



Medication, supplements and medical interventions

Medication reviews should be considered as a part of a multifactorial assessment in patients at risk of falling⁷². Many older people use sedatives to treat their insomnia, but falls are one negative side effect of sedative hypnotics, therefore evidence is emerging that Cognitive Behaviour Therapy (CBT) may be the most cost-effective strategy for treating insomnia after falls and related consequences have been accounted for²⁷⁶. Psychotropic drugs such as antidepressants also need to be medically managed to avoid people falling²⁷⁷.

Providing vitamin D supplements could be a cost-effective way to help prevent falls and fractures in older adults^{277,278}. Targeting populations who are lower in vitamin D levels before treatment may reduce the incidence and risk of falls²⁶⁰. An economic model showed that for women, population screening was slightly more cost-effective than universal supplementation of vitamin D, with an incremental net monetary benefit of £160.48†† compared to £135.41††²⁷⁸ over a period of 36 months. In addition, for the oldest old (over 80 years old) and male population, population screening may also be more cost-effective than universal supplementation of vitamin D²⁷⁸.

NICE guidance on mental wellbeing in over 65s is outlined in Box 7.2.

There are few rigorous assessments of the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of occupational therapy and physical activity interventions to promote mental wellbeing in people aged 65 and older that have taken place in the UK. This Public Health guidance draws upon the results of a study by Munro et al. (2004) who found that the incremental average QALY gain of 0.011 per person (equivalent to just under four days of additional full health related quality of life) in the community-based exercise programme resulted in an incremental cost per QALY ratio of $\pounds16,415+\uparrow^{279}$. NICE highlight a number of economic evidence gaps identified during the development of this guidance, particularly that there is a lack of long-term evidence for the cost-effectiveness of interventions to promote older people's mental wellbeing. In addition there is a need for greater attention to be paid to methodological considerations relating to standardised measures used to assess QALYs and emotional/social wellbeing.

Box 7.2 NICE Public Health guidance on 'mental wellbeing in over 65s: occupational therapy and physical activity interventions', the economic evidence base¹⁷⁰ [PH16, 2008]

Home and environment interventions

Care & Repair Cymru programmes are provided throughout Wales and help to prevent falls through modifications to the home environment of older people living independently. Environmental modification to homes has also been found to avert medical costs of falling at around £620.15⁺⁺ of modification cost, and averted cost of falling of £1,339.53⁺⁺²⁸⁰. Modifications to homes can include handrails in the garden, grab rails by the front door or grab rails to help older people get into and out of the bath safely. Preventing a fall leading to hip fracture saves on average £32,060.43⁺, while the average saving per person of postponing the need for residential care by a year has been estimated to be around £31,406.14⁺¹²⁴.

Small building repairs also have a benefit to Health and Social Services through reducing the risk of falls²⁸¹. This benefit may come from the removal of trip hazards or preventing injuries by negating the need for older people to attempt small building work themselves. Another benefit of small building work is to keep older people living in their own homes so that they do not move into residential care earlier than necessary, saving an annual residential care cost of £57,700.23⁺ per programme¹⁹⁸. Wet-rooms, showers instead of baths, and stair-lifts are all modifications that accrue

benefits for Health and Social Care Services. For example stair-lifts can give older people greater independence and confidence in their ability to cope, as well as minimising the risks of falling down the stairs. Benefits of stair-lifts can amount to £116,602.55† per Village and Community Agents programme¹⁹⁸.

There is some strong evidence to support that environmental adaptations to hospital wards such as installing shock-absorbing flooring can reduce the cost of falling to £913.51† per patient²⁸².

Feet and footwear interventions

Foot problems and foot pain commonly occur in older populations and can impact on an individual's ability to maintain usual functioning²⁸³ and have also been associated with an increased risk of falling²⁸⁴. Podiatry interventions to reduce falls have been evaluated^{285,286} and preliminary evidence indicates that they may be cost-effective with ICERs ranging between £19,494 and £20,593 per additional QALY²⁸⁵. The biggest costs are in training podiatrists or care home staff, on-going delivery costs can be embedded within usual care routines and overall incur minimal extra costs for the health services²⁸⁶.

Vision and vision aids

Vision screening is recommended for all people who have a fall²⁸⁷. The number of adults in Wales with a visual impairment is not known, estimates vary from 42,000 to 115,000 people with a severe sight impairment, although in 2011 only 16,253 of the adult population in Wales had a registered sight impairment²⁸⁸. The Welsh Health Survey indicated that 7% of people aged 45 and over in Wales have difficulty with eyesight²⁸⁹. Some barriers for older people accessing eye tests include cost issues, especially the cost of purchasing new frames and lenses, transport problems, fear of appearing frail or foolish, and not fully understanding their own risk of eye disease¹⁴¹.

The incidence of falls for older people with sight loss is 1.7 times that of people without eye problems²⁹⁰. In the UK, the medical cost of falls among people with sight loss amounts to an estimated £427 million† per year, and falls that are directly related to having sight loss at £203 million† per year²⁹¹. Failure to identify sight loss can lead to a higher level of falls²⁹⁰. Schemes which encourage older people (aged 60 years) to take up regular eye examinations can be cost-effective at £29,631† per Disability Adjusted Life Year gained **[see glossary]**²⁹². Despite new glasses reducing the risk of older people falling in the long term, it has also been suggested that in the short term there is more risk of older people falling after they have had a new prescription, which may be significantly different from their old glasses prescription²⁹³.

Although not cost-effective in the short term, cataract surgery can be cost-effective over a lifetime with regard to cost prevention²⁹⁴. Cataracts can affect both eyes; however, whether the benefits of second-eye cataract surgery outweigh the costs has been debated^{295,296}. Cost-utility modelling of the benefits associated with second-eye cataracts surgery indicates that it can be highly cost-effective compared to other medical procedures and only slightly less cost-effective than the correction of cataracts in the first eye^{295,297}. Second-eye surgery generated 0.68 additional QALYs (equivalent to an additional 8 months in full health-related quality of life) and resulted in an ICER of £1,998† per QALY gained²⁹⁷, significantly lower than commonly accepted thresholds in the UK.

Sight loss advisers can be beneficial in terms of reducing the fear of falling. A SROI analysis has estimated that there are £10.57of benefits to health and social care for each £1 investment^{298,299}.

Falls detection and prevention technologies

As older people live longer, the number of older people who fall has increased and so have the number of systems aimed at detecting falls. Falls detection and prevention technologies include such things as 'fall watch alarm technologies' or 'user-activated alarms and pendants'. Although such

alarms are often low-cost and simple to use, they are only effective if the older person remembers to wear them and activate them³⁰⁰.

There is an assumption that telehealth and remote health care can be more cost-effective to faceto-face medical care³⁰¹. For example, remote monitoring technologies can be cost saving compared to patient sitters, with an ICER of £5217^{+†} per avoided fall³⁰². More economic evaluations however are needed as technologies develop³⁰¹, particularly taking into account wider impacts such as any loss of socialisation and patient satisfaction that may come with replacing human contact with remote devices³⁰². Utilising existing communication technologies, such as smart phones, may provide a low-cost alternative to more expensive monitoring technology³⁰¹.



8. Discussion



In this report we have explored the economic case for investing in older people as assets, through appraising the available economic evidence relating to older people (spanning interventions, policies and practice relevant to Wales). The choice of topics covered came from consultation with our multi-disciplinary advisory board, Public Health Wales colleagues, academics working in the field of health and social care relating to older people and our review of policies and practice relevant to older people in Wales. We consulted with members of Age Alliance Wales and the Cymru Older People's Alliance (COPA) to identify relevant sources of Wales based economic evaluations of services and action for older people. We have been further informed by the views of older people through the consultation of older people living in Wales as part of the Welsh Government review of the Older Peoples Strategy for Wales.

We identified three key areas to focus our synthesis of the economic literature relevant to older people in Wales (Loneliness and social isolation; Caring for older carers; and Preventing falls). We undertook robust rapid reviews of the literature, 2006 – 2017, published in the English language worldwide. We set out to add to the body of economic evidence relevant to us in Wales, complementing work already done by National Institute of Health and Care Excellence [NICE], Social Care Institute for Excellence [SCIE], Age Alliance Wales and the Cymru Older People's Alliance (COPA).

Our rapid review identified studies with a wide range of outcome measures, across which it is hard to make direct comparisons. We found that programmes that promote independent living and community engagement can reduce loneliness and provide wider economic benefits for example from volunteering and informal caring. Environments and services that promote exercise and active travel can support working for longer and independent living and a healthier old age. We recognise the synergy and interplay between the economic circumstances, physical environment in which older people are living, and access to health and social care services.

Conclusions

Wales needs to focus attention and investment on the following key areas:

- Fully integrated health and care services;
- Maintaining physical and mental well being in older age, with a focus on reducing social isolation and loneliness;
- Maintaining services to promote prevention (particularly falls prevention), rehabilitation and reablement;
- · Investment in sustainable homes, transport and communities, and
- Support for informal carers.

Investment could focus on:

- 1. Enabling working for longer, facilitating volunteering and supporting working parents through care of grandchildren brings many economic returns in terms of improving wellbeing; reducing loneliness, and supporting formal and wider community services. Co-production enables older people to remain active in the community, with bi-directional benefits within the community and public sector services.
- 2. Programmes that promote exercise and improved balance can be cost-effective in terms of improving physical and psychological wellbeing in older age, reducing falls and associated need for hospital and community care. Local transport systems that can support active travel, including walking and cycling, provide wider economic benefits.
- 3. Maintaining funding across prevention, rehabilitation and reablement can generate economic benefits by promoting independent living; reducing the need for hospital admissions; facilitating earlier discharge from hospital, and reducing demands on health and social care services.
- 4. Many older people are themselves informal carers. There are costs of providing care to older carers who are in need of social, medical and psychological support. Carers, including carers of people with dementia, can be the key factor that can keep someone living at home or prevent admission to hospital or residential care. There is an economic case for making support for older carers a priority in Wales as there are more unpaid older carers in Wales than in any other part of the UK.
- 5. There is a need for economic evaluation of new models of care, for example, bringing together generations. Models that place preschool centres within care homes for older people, and organised programmes of activities to integrate these bookend generations are being introduced in US, Australia, Germany, England and Wales. Sharing facilities and overheads through intergenerational programmes may prove an economically rational way of achieving bi-directional benefits such as reducing loneliness in older people, and improving social skills of children.



Glossary

Cymru Older People Alliance (COPA) - Cymru Older People's Alliance is an organisation of volunteers working for the betterment of older people living in Wales.

Disability Adjusted Life Year (DALY) - A measure of overall disease burden, expressed as the number of years lost due to ill-health, disability or early death.

Fidelity - This refers to how faithful the running of the intervention, when it is rolled out, is to the original design of the intervention.

Gross Value Added (GVA): Gross Value Added is the total value of all that is produced in an economy in a given time period, usually a year.

Gross Domestic Product (GDP): Gross Domestic Product is GVA plus taxes on products less subsidies on products.

Healthy Life Expectancy–Expected number of years of life lived in good health. The measure combines age-specific mortality with morbidity or health status.

Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) - Summary measure representing the economic value of an intervention, compared to an alternative.

Multi-agency (or multi-sector) - This perspective of economic analysis includes the NHS, Social Care, the voluntary sector, judicial system and local authorities.

Pro-rate (or pro-rated) - In this report we often pro-rate figures from the UK or England scaled so they are relevant for Wales. This is done on the basis of population size only and no account is taken of the level of need unless otherwise stated.

Prudent health and social care – Care that fits the needs and circumstances of patients and actively avoids wasteful care that is not to the patient's benefit.

Public Health (or Population Health) - In this report we use the term public health although we fully acknowledge in wider terms that we are talking about population health. Population health has been defined as "the health outcomes of a group of individuals, including the distribution of such outcomes within the group"³⁰³ p. 380. A public health intervention is a programme that is aimed at improving a public health problem. For example, a smoking cessation programme will aim to reduce the prevalence of smoking in a given population.

Quality Adjusted Life Year (QALY) - This is defined as a year of life adjusted for its quality of life. Patients may gain added years of life from a treatment or intervention. This time is adjusted by the quality of life during that period.

Return on Investment (ROI) - This is the net economic return for each pound invested in a public health intervention. It is expressed as either a percentage, or it can be stated that each £1 invested will generate e.g. £7.10 in economic returns. The £7.10 does not include the original £1 invested.

Social Return on Investment (SROI) - This approach considers the triple bottom line of social, economic and environmental returns. It is calculated as the present value of benefits in financial terms divided by the total inputs into the project. It is expressed as either a ratio e.g. 1:7.10, or it can be stated that each £1 invested will generate e.g. £7.10 in social value.

- 1. Ageing Well in Wales. Ageing Well Themes. (2017).
- Khangura, S., Konnyu, K., Cushman, R., Grimshaw, J. & Moher, D. Evidence summaries: the evolution of a rapid review approach. *Syst. Rev.* 1, 10 (2012).
- Shemilt, I. *et al.* Chapter 15: Incorporating economics evidence. in *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (eds. Higgins, J. P. T. & Green, S.) (2008).
- Van Woerden, H. Achieving prudent health care in NHS Wales. (2014).
- 5. Davies, H. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. *Environ. Law Rev.* **18**, 41–56 (2016).
- 6. Welsh Government. *Prosperity for All: The national strategy*. (2017).
- 7. Older People's Commissioner for Wales. *Ageing in Wales: An overview in a European perspective.* (2016).
- 8. Older People's Commissioner for Wales. *The Importance and Impact of Community Services within Wales*. (2014).
- 9. Hex, N. & Tatlock, S. Altogether Better Social Return on Investment Case Studies. (2011).
- 10. ARUP & Partners. Seasonal health and resilience for ageing urban populations and environments. (2016).
- Bray, N., Burns, P., Jones, A., Winrow, E. & Edwards, R. T. Costs and outcomes of improving population health through better social housing: a cohort study and economic analysis. *Int. J. Public Health* 1–12 (2017). doi:10.1007/s00038-017-0989-y
- 12. Iparraguirre, J. Age UK Chief Economist's Report Spring 2014. 1–26 (2014).
- 13. WCVA. Volunteering in Wales 2015 Report on two Omnibus surveys March 2014 and 2015. (2016).
- WRVS. Gold age pensioners, valuing the socio-economic contribution of older people in the UK. (2011). doi:10.1017/ CBO9781107415324.004
- 15. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. *PwC Golden Age Index 2017*. (2017).
- 16. Welsh Government. Welsh Government | ENABLE Support for Independent Living. (2017).
- 17. KAFKA Brigade. Supporting better health outcomes in Wales: A Report for Community Housing Cymru. (2011).
- 18. NICE. Excess winter deaths and illness and the health risks associated with cold homes. (2015).
- 19. WHO. The case for investing in public health. (2014).
- 20. WRVS. Loneliness amongst older people and the impact of family connections. (2012).
- Holt-Lunstad, J., Smith, T. B. & Layton, J. B. Social Relationships and Mortality Risk: A Meta-analytic Review. *PLoS Med.* 7, e1000316 (2010).
- 22. Older People's Commissioner for Wales. *Response from the Older People's Commissioner for Wales to the UK Government HM Treasury 'Public Financial Guidance Review' consultation.* (2016).

- 23. Older People's Commissioner for Wales. Response from the Older People's Commissioner for Wales to the National Assembly for Wales Health, Social Care and Sport Committee Inquiry into loneliness and isolation. (2017).
- 24. Jopling, K. Promising approaches to reducing loneliness and isolation in later life. (2015). doi:10.1037/016074
- 25. Mackett, R. Has the policy of concessionary bus travel for older people in britain been successful? *Case Stud. Transp. Policy* **2**, 81–88 (2014).
- 26. Welsh Government. *The Strategy for Older People in Wales* 2013-2023. (2013).
- 27. Donald, N. Social Return on Investment Report (SROI) on Dial-A-Community Bus Shopping Service. (Buchan Development Partnership, 2010). doi:No. 3
- 28. Teater, B. Intergenerational Programs to Promote Active Aging: The Experiences and Perspectives of Older Adults. *Act. Adapt. Aging* **40**, 1–19 (2016).
- 29. Morita, K. & Kobayashi, M. Interactive programs with preschool children bring smiles and conversation to older adults: time-sampling study. *BMC Geriatr.* **13**, 111 (2013).
- Park, A.-L. The effects of intergenerational programmes on children and young people. *Int. J. Sch. Cogn. Psychol.* 2, 1–5 (2015).
- 31. Frick, K. D. *et al.* Modeled Cost-Effectiveness of the Experience Corps Baltimore Based on a Pilot Randomized Trial. *J. Urban Heal.* **81**, 106–117 (2004).
- 32. Kinsella, S. Older people and social isolation evidence: a review of the evidence. (2014).
- 33. Optimity Matrix. Independence and mental wellbeing (including social and emotional wellbeing) for older people Older people: Economic Analysis. (2015).
- 34. Social Value Lab. Craft Cafe. Creative Solutions to Isolation & Loneliness: Social Return on Investment Evaluation. (2011).
- Milligan, C. *et al.* Older men and social activity: a scoping review of Men's Sheds and other gendered interventions. *Ageing Soc.* 1–29 (2015). doi:10.1017/S0144686X14001524
- 36. Centre for Reviews and Dissemination. *Interventions for loneliness and social isolation*. (2014).
- Findlay, R. A. Interventions to reduce social isolation amongst older people: where is the evidence? *Ageing Soc.* 23, 647–658 (2003).
- Knapp, M., Bauer, A., Perkins, M. & Snell, T. Building community capital in social care: Is there an economic case? *Community Dev. J.* 48, 313–331 (2013).
- Office for National Statistics. 2011 Census data. (2011). Available at: https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census/2011censusdata.
- Older People's Commissioner for Wales. Wellbeing Indicators for Older People Introduction Summary and main points. 1–38 (2013).
- 41. Buckner, L. & Yeandle, S. Valuing Carers 2015. (2015).
- 42. Carers Trust. Caring About Older Carers. (2015).
- Martindale-Adams, J., Nichols, L. O., Zuber, J., Burns, R. & Graney, M. J. Dementia caregivers' use of services for themselves. *Gerontologist* 56, 1053–1061 (2016).

- 44. Shaw, C. *et al.* Systematic review of respite care in the frail elderly. *Health Technol. Assess. (Rockv).* **13**, 1–246 (2009).
- Dahlrup, B., Nordell, E., Steen Carlsson, K. & Elmståhl, S. Health economic analysis on a psychosocial intervention for family caregivers of persons with dementia. *Dement. Geriatr. Cogn. Disord.* 37, 181–195 (2014).
- 46. Gitlin, L. N., Hodgson, N., Jutkowitz, E. & Pizzi, L. The Cost-Effectiveness of a Nonpharmacologic Intervention for ... *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* **18**, 510–519 (2010).
- 47. Hu, B., Wittenberg, R. & Knapp, M. *The hidden cost of dementia in Wales*. (2015).
- 48. Semple, A., Willis, E. & de Waal, H. Peer Support for people with Dementia A Social return on Investment (SROI) study. (2015).
- 49. Public Health England. Health matters: midlife approaches to reduce dementia risk. (2016). Available at: https://www. gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-midlife-approaches-to-reduce-dementia-risk/health-matters-midlife-approaches-to-reduce-dementia-risk.
- 50. Ageing Well in Wales. Falls Prevention. (2017).
- 51. WHO Regional Office for Europe. The case for investing in public health. (2015).
- 52. The Chartered Society of Physiotherapy. The cost of falls. (2016). Available at: http://www.csp.org.uk/profession-al-union/practice/your-business/evidence-base/cost-falls.
- 53. Church, J., Goodall, S., Norman, R. & Haas, M. The cost-effectiveness of falls prevention interventions for older community-dwelling Australians. *Aust. N. Z. J. Public Health* **36**, 241–248 (2012).
- Carande-Kulis, V., Stevens, J. A., Florence, C. S., Beattie, B. L. & Arias, I. A cost-benefit analysis of three older adult fall prevention interventions. *J. Safety Res.* **52**, 65–70 (2015).
- 55. Beard, J. *et al.* Economic analysis of a community-based falls prevention program. *Public Health* **120**, 742–751 (2006).
- 56. Landeiro, F., Leal, J. & Gray, A. M. The impact of social isolation on delayed hospital discharges of older hip fracture patients and associated costs. *Osteoporos. Int.* **27**, 737–745 (2016).
- 57. Tian, Y., Thompson, J., Buck, D. & Sonola, L. *Exploring the system-wide costs of falls in older people in Torbay. London: The King's Fund* (2013).
- Palfreman, M. & Jepson, W. Efficiency and Innovation Board: New Models of Service Delivery. (Social Services Improvement Agency, 2011).
- 59. Watt, T. & Roberts, A. *The path to sustainability*. (The Health Foundation, 2016).
- Richards, N. Economic Austerity and Older Volunteers Wales Institute of Social & amp; Economic Research, Data & amp; Methods (WISERD) - Cardiff University. (2015). Available at: http://blogs.cardiff.ac.uk/wiserd/2015/05/13/ economic-austerity-and-older-volunteers/. (Accessed: 21st September 2017)
- 61. Public Health Wales Observatory. Public Health Wales Observatory Demography Overview. (2016). Available at: http:// www.publichealthwalesobservatory.wales.nhs.uk/demography-overview.
- 62. Office for National Statistics. *Life Expectancy at Birth and at Age 65 by Local Areas in England and Wales: 2012 to 2014.* (2015).

- 63. Statistics for Wales. *A Statistical Focus on Age in Wales*. (Her Majesty's Stationery Office, 2009).
- 64. Office for National Statistics. Health state life expectancies, UK: 2013 to 2015. 1–17 (2016).
- 65. Carter-Davies, L. & Hillcoat-Nallétamby, S. Housing for Older People in Wales: An Evidence Review. (2015).
- 66. Department of Health. *Making a strategic shift to prevention and early intervention A guide.* (2008).
- 67. Holley-Moore, G. & Beach, B. Drink Wise, Age Well: Alcohol Use and the Over 50s in the UK. (2016).
- 68. Barnett, K. *et al.* Epidemiology of multimorbidity and implications for health care, research, and medical education: A cross-sectional study. *Lancet* **380**, 37–43 (2012).
- Conn, V. S. *et al.* Interventions to improve medication adherence among older adults: Meta-analysis of adherence outcomes among randomized controlled trials. *Gerontologist* 49, 447–462 (2009).
- 70. Nieuwlaat, R. *et al.* Interventions for enhancing medication adherence. in *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (ed. Nieuwlaat, R.) (John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2014). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD000011.pub4
- 71. Anglada-Martinez, H. *et al.* Does mHealth increase adherence to medication? Results of a systematic review. *Int. J. Clin. Pract.* **69**, 9–32 (2015).
- 72. Barker, W. Assessment and prevention of falls in older people. *Nurs. Older People* **26**, 18–24 (2014).
- 73. Duerden, M., Avery, T. & Payne, R. Polypharmacy and medicines optimisation Making it safe and sound. *Kings Fund* 1–68 (2013). doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2013-002913
- 74. NICE. Medicines optimisation: the safe and effective use of medicines to enable the best possible outcomes. NICE guideline (2015). doi:ISBN: 978-1-4731-1057-1
- 75. Welsh Assembly Government. National Service Framework for Older People in Wales. (2006).
- Pirmohamed, M. Adverse drug reactions as cause of admission to hospital: prospective analysis of 18 820 patients. *BMJ* 329, 15–19 (2004).
- Gurwitz, J. H. *et al.* The incidence of adverse drug events in two large academic long-term care facilities. *Am. J. Med.* **118**, 251–258 (2005).
- The King's Fund. Ten priorities for commissioners: Transforming our health care system summary. (2015). Available at: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/articles/transforming-our-health-care-system-ten-priorities-commissioners/summary. (Accessed: 28th September 2017)
- 79. Jones, C. H. Combining daycare for children and elderly people benefits all generations. *Conversat*. 1–3 (2017).
- Swift, H. J., Abrams, D., Drury, L. & Lamont, R. A. Briefing paper (5): The perception of ageing and age discrimination. (2016). doi:10.1080/00369220601100075
- 81. Mackett, R. Improving accessibility for older people Investing in a valuable asset. *J. Transp. Heal.* **2**, 5–13 (2015).
- 82. ILC-UK. Grandparent Army Report. 37 (2017).
- 83. Children in Wales. Grandparents asked about their Role, 08/09/10 [W]. (2010). Available at: http://www.childreninwales.org.uk/news/press-releases/grandparents-askedabout-their-role-080910-w/.

- 84. The new old age: perspective on innovating our way to the good life for all. (NESTA, 2009).
- 85. Sinclair, D. The Golden Economy The Consumer Marketplace in an Ageing Society. *October* 76 (2010).
- 86. WRAP. WRAP and the circular economy. (2017).
- 87. United Nations. *The Sustainable Development Goals Report*. (2017).
- Hunter Lovins, L. Rethinking Production. in STATE OF THE WORLD 2008 Innovations for a Sustainable Economy Innovations for a Sustainable Economy 38–40 (The Worldwatch Institute, 2008).
- SCIE. Co-production. (2016). Available at: https://www.scie. org.uk/co-production/. (Accessed: 22nd September 2017)
- 90. Altogether Better. Altogether Better Working Together to Create Healthier People and Communities. (2016).
- 91. Woodall, J., White, J., Kinsella, K. & South, J. Community Health Champions and Older People: a Review of the Evidence. (2012).
- 92. WHO. A physically active life through everyday transport with a special focus on children and older people and examples and approaches from Europe. (2002).
- 93. Laverty, A. A., Mindell, J. S., Webb, E. A. & Millett, C. Active Travel to Work and Cardiovascular Risk Factors in the United Kingdom. *Am. J. Prev. Med.* **45**, 282–288 (2013).
- 94. Fonda, S. J., Wallace, R. B. & Herzog, A. R. Changes in Driving Patterns and Worsening Depressive Symptoms Among Older Adults. *J. Gerontol. Soc. Sci. Am.* **56**, 343–351 (2001).
- Musselwhite, C. B. A. & Shergold, I. Examining the process of driving cessation in later life. *Eur. J. Ageing* **10**, 89–100 (2013).
- 96. Government Office for Science. Future of an Ageing Population. FORESIGHT (Government Off. Sci. UK) 1–124 (2016).
- 97. Titheridge, H., Christie, N., Mackett, R., Hernández, D. O. & Ye, R. Transport and poverty: a review of the evidence. 54 (2014). doi:10.13140/RG.2.1.1166.8645
- Laverty, A. A. & Millett, C. Potential impacts of subsidised bus travel for older people. *J. Transp. Heal.* 2, 32–34 (2015).
- 99. Tinsley, M. Too Much to Lose. (Policy Exchange, 2012).
- 100. Age UK. Later Life in the United Kingdom. (2017). doi:10.1016/j. egypro.2016.11.209
- 101. Harrop, A. & Jopling, K. One voice: shaping our ageing society. (2009). doi:10.1037/e412532005-004
- Department for Work & Pensions. Employment statistics for workers aged 50 and over, by 5-year age bands and gender. (2015).
- 103. Office for National Statistics. What Does the 2011 Census Tell Us About Older People? (2013).
- 104. Marvell, R. & Cox, A. Fulfilling work What do older workers value about work and why ? (2016).
- van der Noordt, M., IJzelenberg, H., Droomers, M. & Proper, K. I. Health effects of employment: a systematic review of prospective studies. *Occup. Environ. Med.* **71**, 730–6 (2014).
- 106. Taskila, T., Shreeve, V., Laghini, M. & Bevan, S. About the Health at Work Policy Unit. (2015).
- 107. European Commission. Ageing Well in Wales: a national movement. (2016).

- Williams, I. & Hatton-Yeo, A. Working with Older People Ageing Well in Wales: a national movement. *Work. with Older People* 19, 170–176 (2015).
- Hildon, Z., Smith, G., Netuveli, G. & Blane, D. Understanding adversity and resilience at older ages. *Sociol. Heal. Illn.* **30**, 726–740 (2008).
- 110. NICE. Workplace health: management practices. (2015).
- 111. Hagger-Johnson, G. *et al.* Association between midlife health behaviours and transitions out of employment from midlife to early old age: Whitehall II cohort study. *BMC Public Health* **17**, 82 (2017).
- 112. Welsh Government. Framework for Action on Independent Living. (2013).
- 113. Wanless D, Appleby, J. Harrison, A . Patel, D. Our Future Health Secured? 1–279 (2007).
- 114. Department of Health. Homecare Re-ablement, Efficiency Delivery: supporting sustainable transformation. (2007).
- 115. NICE. Older people with social care needs and multiple longterm conditions. NICE Guidelines NG22, (2015).
- 116. ASCOT | Domains. (2018). Available at: http://www.pssru. ac.uk/ascot/domains.php. (Accessed: 30th January 2018)
- 117. WHO. *Global age-friendly cities : a guide*. (World Health Organization, 2007).
- 118. van Leeuwen, K. M. *et al.* What can local authorities do to improve the social care-related quality of life of older adults living at home? Evidence from the Adult Social Care Survey. *Heal. Place* **29**, 104–113 (2014).
- 119. Help the Aged. Nowhere to go: Public toilet provision in the UK. (2007).
- 120. Age Cymru. Save our public toilets. (2011).
- 121. House of Commons. The Provision of Public Toilets Twelfth Report of Session 2007–08. (2008).
- 122. A report by the Expert Group on Housing and Ageing Population in Wales. Our HousingAGEnda: meeting the aspirations of older people in Wales. (2017).
- 123. Health Challenge Wales. Health Challenge Wales Home safety for older people. (2017). Available at: http://www. healthchallengewales.org/home-safety-for-older-people. (Accessed: 26th September 2017)
- 124. Croucher, K. & Lowson, K. *Handypersons Evaluation Interim key findings*. (Department for Communities and Local Government, 2011).
- 125. Westwood, S. & Daly, M. Social Care and Older People in Home and Community Contexts: A Review of Existing Research and Evidence. (2016).
- 126. Disability Wales. An introduction to the Social Model of Disability. (2002).
- 127. Hurstfield, J., Parashar, U. & Schofield, K. *The costs and benefits of independent living*. (2007).
- 128. NICE. Home care: delivering personal care and practical support to older people living in their own homes. (2015).
- 129. Wales Audit Office. Supporting the Independence of Older People: Are Councils Doing Enough? (2015).
- 130. Laing & Buisson. Press release: Private pay rate among older care home residents reaches 35%. (2008).

- 131. Cabe. Homes for our old age. (Department of Health, 2009).
- 132. National Assembly for Wales. *Inquiry into Poverty in Wales: Poverty and Inequality.* (2015).
- 133. Age UK. Reducing fuel poverty a scourge for older people. (2014).
- 134. Community Housing Cymru Group. *The Future of the Energy Company Obligation Community Housing Cymru Group response*. (2014).
- Pevalin, D. J., Taylor, M. P. & Todd, J. The Dynamics of Unhealthy Housing in the UK: A panel data analysis. *Hous. Stud.* 23, 679–695 (2008).
- 136. Office for National Statistics. Excess Winter Mortality in England and Wales: 2015/16 (Provisional) and 2014/15 (Final). *Stat. Bull.* **16,** 1–18 (2016).
- 137. Francis, J., Fisher, M. & Rutter, D. *Reablement: a cost-effective route to better outcomes.* (2011).
- 138. Bridges, E. & James, V. *Getting back on your feet: reablement in Wales*. (2012).
- 139. National Assembly for Wales. *Health, Social Care and Sport Committee Inquiry into Ioneliness and isolation Consultation responses.* (2017).
- 140. Dixon, J. *et al.* An Analysis of the Economic Impacts of the British Red Cross Support at Home Service. (2014).
- 141. RNIB. Evidence-based review Older people. (2010).
- 142. Welsh Government. Informed Health and Care A digital health and social care strategy for Wales. (2015).
- 143. Mid Wales Health care Collaborative. A review of telehealth, telecare and telemedicine in Wales. (2016).
- 144. Leng, G. On the Pulse: Housing routes to better health outcomes for older people. (National Housing Federation, 2012).
- 145. Polisena, J., Coyle, D., Coyle, K. & McGill, S. Home telehealth for chronic disease management: A systematic review and an analysis of economic evaluations. *Int. J. Technol. Assess. Health Care* **25**, 339–349 (2009).
- 146. Davies, A. & Newman, S. Evaluating telecare and telehealth interventions WSDAN briefing paper. 44 (2011).
- 147. Bergmo, T. S. Using QALYs in telehealth evaluations: a systematic review of methodology and transparency. *BMC Health Serv. Res.* **14**, 332 (2014).
- 148. Ho, Y.-L. *et al.* Assessment of the cost-effectiveness and clinical outcomes of a fourth-generation synchronous telehealth program for the management of chronic cardiovascular disease. *J. Med. Internet Res.* **16**, e145 (2014).
- 149. Thokala, P. *et al.* Telemonitoring after discharge from hospital with heart failure: cost-effectiveness modelling of alternative service designs. *BMJ Open* **3**, e003250 (2013).
- 150. Henderson, C. *et al.* Cost effectiveness of telehealth for patients with long term conditions (Whole Systems Demonstrator telehealth questionnaire study): nested economic evaluation in a pragmatic, cluster randomised controlled trial. *BMJ* **346**, f1035 (2013).
- 151. Age Concern. Promoting mental health and well-being in later life. London: Mental Health Foundation and Age Concern (2006).
- 152. Courtin, E. & Knapp, M. Social isolation, loneliness and health in old age: A scoping review. *Heal. Soc. Care Community* (2015). doi:10.1111/hsc.12311

- 153. Fulton, L. & Jupp, B. Investing to Tackle Loneliness: A Discussion Paper. (2015).
- 154. Cohen, G. D. *et al.* The impact of professionally conducted cultural programs on the physical health, mental health, and social functioning of older adults. *Gerontologist* **46**, 726–734 (2006).
- 155. Cacioppo, J. T., Hughes, M. E., Waite, L. J., Hawkley, L. C. & Thisted, R. A. Loneliness as a Specific Risk Factor for Depressive Symptoms: Cross-Sectional and Longitudinal Analyses. *Psychol. Aging* **21**, 140–151 (2006).
- 156. Green, B. H. *et al.* Risk factors for depression in elderly people: a prospective study. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* **86**, 213–217 (1992).
- 157. O'Connell, H., Chin, A.-V., Cunningham, C. & Lawlor, B. A. Clinical review Recent developments: Suicide in older people Sources and selection criteria Dispelling the myths (Greek and otherwise). *BMJ* **329**, 895–899 (2004).
- 158. Wilson, R. S. *et al.* Loneliness and risk of Alzheimer disease. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* **64,** 234–240 (2007).
- 159. James, B. D., Wilson, R. S., Barnes, L. L. & Bennett, D. A. Late-Life Social Activity and Cognitive Decline in Old Age. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc* **17**, 998–1005 (2011).
- Holwerda, T. J. *et al.* Feelings of loneliness, but not social isolation, predict dementia onset: results from the Amsterdam Study of the Elderly (AMSTEL). *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 85, 135–142 (2014).
- Holt-Lunstad, J., Smith, T. B., Baker, M., Harris, T. & Stephenson, D. Loneliness and Social Isolation as Risk Factors for Mortality: A Meta-Analytic Review. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 10, 227–237 (2015).
- 162. Glass, T. A. *et al.* Population based study of social and productive activities as predictors of survival among elderly Americans. *BMJ* **319**, 478–83 (1999).
- Valtorta, N. K., Kanaan, M., Gilbody, S., Ronzi, S. & Hanratty, B. Loneliness and social isolation as risk factors for coronary heart disease and stroke: systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal observational studies. *Heart* **102**, 1009–1016 (2016).
- Petitte, T. *et al.* A Systematic Review of Loneliness and Common Chronic Physical Conditions in Adults. *Open Psychol J.* 8, 113–132 (2015).
- 165. Burholt, V. & Scharf, T. Poor Health and Loneliness in Later Life: The Role of Depressive Symptoms, Social Resources, and Rural Environments. *Journals Gerontol. Ser. B Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci.* **69**, 311–324 (2014).
- Ozbay, F. *et al.* Social support and resilience to stress: from neurobiology to clinical practice. *Psychiatry (Edgmont).* 4, 35–40 (2007).
- Glymour, M. M., Weuve, J., Fay, M. E., Glass, T. & Berkman, L. F. Social ties and cognitive recovery after stroke: Does social integration promote cognitive resilience? *Neuroepidemiology* 31, 10–20 (2008).
- Antonucci, T. C., Fuhrer, R. & Dartigues, J. F. Social relations and depressive symptomatology in a sample of community-dwelling French older adults. *Psychol. Aging* **12**, 189–195 (1997).
- 169. Godfrey, M., Townsend, J. & Denby, T. Building a good life for older people in local communities: The experience of ageing in time and place. (2004).

- 170. NICE. Mental wellbeing in over 65s: occupational ther therapy and physical activity interventions. (2008).
- 171. Social Exclusion Unit. A Sure Start to Later Life Ending Inequalities for Older People Improving Services, Improving Lives. (2006).
- 172. WHO. Active Ageing: A Policy Framework. 5, (2002).
- 173. Windle, G. et al. Public health interventions to promote mental well-being in people aged 65 and over: systematic review of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness. (2007).
- 174. Evans, B. Value of unpaid care in Wales reaches over £8 billion a year - Carers UK. (2015). Available at: https://www. carersuk.org/news-and-campaigns/news/vale-of-unpaidcare-in-wales. (Accessed: 27th September 2017)
- 175. Older People's Commissioner for Wales. Men's Sheds Cymru. (2015).
- 176. Age UK. Loneliness among older men growing problem in our society. (2016).
- 177. Pitkala, K. H., Routasalo, P., Kautiainen, H. & Tilvis, R. S. Effects of psychosocial group rehabilitation on health, use of health care services, and mortality of older persons suffering from loneliness: A randomized, controlled trial. *Journals Gerontol.* -*Ser. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* **64**, 792–800 (2009).
- 178. Coulton, S., Clift, S., Skingley, A. & Rodriguez, J. Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of community singing on mental health-related quality of life of older people: Randomised controlled trial. *Br. J. Psychiatry* **207**, 250–255 (2015).
- 179. Tenovus Cancer Care. About Sing with Us. (2007). Available at: https://tenovuscancercare.org.uk/how-we-can-help-you/ sing-with-us/about-sing-with-us/. (Accessed: 22nd September 2017)
- 180. Windle, K., Francis, J. & Coomber, C. Preventing loneliness and social isolation: interventions and outcomes. *Soc. Care Inst. Excell. Res. Brief.* 39 (2011).
- 181. NICE. Older people: independence and mental wellbeing. NG32, (2015).
- Cattan, M., White, M., Bond, J. & Learmouth, A. Preventing social isolation and loneliness among older people: a systematic review of health promotion interventions. *Ageing Soc.* 25, 41–67 (2005).
- 183. Mcdaid, D., Park, A. & Fernandez, J. *Reconnections Evaluation Interim Report.* (2016).
- Pitkala, Kaisu H. Routasalo, P., Kautiainen, H., Sintonen, H., Rijos, S. Tilvis, M. . Effects of Socially Stimulating Group Intervention on Lonely, Older People's Cognition: A Randomized, Controlled Trial. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 19, 654–663 (2011).
- 185. Cattan, M., Kime, N. & Bagnall, A.-M. The use of telephone befriending in low level support for socially isolated older people an evaluation. *Health Soc. Care Community* **19**, no-no (2010).
- 186. Mountain, G. A. *et al.* 'Putting Life in Years' (PLINY) telephone friendship groups research study: pilot randomised controlled trial. *Trials* **15**, 141 (2014).
- 187. Owen, L., Nolan, K., Tierney, R., Pritchard, C. & Leng, G. Cost-effectiveness of a befriending intervention to improve the wellbeing and reduce loneliness of older women. in *The Lancet* **388**, S84 (Elsevier Ltd, 2016).
- 188. Kazmeyer, M. Negative Effects of Technology on Communication | Techwalla.com. (2018). Available at: https:// www.techwalla.com/articles/negative-effects-of-technology-on-communication. (Accessed: 31st January 2018)

- Cotten, S. R., Anderson, W. A. & McCullough, B. M. Impact of internet use on loneliness and contact with others among older adults: Cross-sectional analysis. *J. Med. Internet Res.* 15, e39 (2013).
- Claxton, K. *et al.* Methods for the Estimation of the NICE Cost Effectiveness Threshold. *CHE Res. Pap. 81* (2013). doi:10.3310/ hta19140
- 191. Jones, R. B., Ashurst, E. J., Atkey, J. & Duffy, B. Older people going online: its value and before-after evaluation of volunteer support. *J. Med. Internet Res.* **17**, e122 (2015).
- 192. Stickley, T. & Hui, A. Social prescribing through arts on prescription in a UK city: Participants' perspectives (Part 1). *Public Health* **126**, 574–579 (2012).
- 193. Cutler, D. Tackling Loneliness in Older Age The role of the Arts. (2012).
- 194. Kings Fund. Social prescribing: from rhetoric to reality | The King's Fund. (2017).
- 195. Windle, G. *et al.* Dementia and Imagination: a mixed-methods protocol for arts and science research. *BMJ Open* **6**, e011634 (2016).
- 196. Jones, C., Edwards, R. T. & Windle, G. Social return on investment analysis of an art group for people with dementia. *Lancet* **384**, S43 (2014).
- 197. Men's Sheds Cymru. *List of all Men's Sheds in Wales updated 19 July 2017*. (2017).
- 198. Huckett, C. Gloucestershire Village & Community Agents. Cost / Benefit Analysis. (2014).
- 199. Roderick, S., Davies, G. H., Daniels, J. & Gregory, J. Local Community Initiatives in Western Bay: Formative Evaluation Summary Report. (2016).
- 200. Marsh, H. Social value of Local Area Coordination in Derby: a forecast social return on investment analysis for Derby City Council. (2016).
- 201. Health Quality Ontario. Social isolation in community-dwelling seniors: an evidence-based analysis. Ontario health technology assessment series **8**, (2008).
- 202. Local Government Association. *Combating loneliness: A guide for local authorities.* (2016).
- 203. Dayson, C., Bashir, N., Bennett, E. & Sanderson, E. *The Rotherham Social Prescribing Service for People with Long-Term Health Conditions: Annual Evaluation Report.* (2016).
- 204. Reinhard, S. C., Given, B., Petlick, N. H. & Bemis, A. Supporting Family Caregivers in Providing Care. Patient Safety and Quality: An Evidence-Based Handbook for Nurses (Agency for Health care Research and Quality (US), 2008).
- 205. Carers UK. State of Caring 2014. (2014).
- 206. Age UK. Briefing: Health and Care of Older People in England 2017. (2017).
- 207. Older People's Commissioner for Wales. Carers Week June 2009. (2009).
- Mason, A. *et al.* The effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of respite for caregivers of frail older people. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* 55, 290–299 (2007).
- 209. Gilden, D. M., Kubisiak, J. M., Kahle-Wrobleski, K., Ball, D. E. & Bowman, L. Using U.S. Medicare records to evaluate the indirect health effects on spouses: a case study in Alzheimer's disease patients. *BMC Health Serv. Res.* **14**, 291 (2014).

- Dassel, K. B., Carr, D. C., Vitaliano, P. & Pruchno, R. Does Caring for a Spouse With Dementia Accelerate Cognitive Decline? Findings From the Health and Retirement Study. *Gerontologist* 57, 319–328 (2017).
- 211. Chien, L. Y. *et al.* Caregiver support groups in patients with dementia: A meta-analysis. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* **26**, 1089–1098 (2011).
- 212. Gustavsson, A. *et al.* Differences in resource use and costs of dementia care between European countries: baseline data from the ICTUS study. *J. Nutr. Health Aging* **14**, 648–654 (2010).
- 213. Artaso, I. B., Martin, C. M. & Cabases Hita, J. M. Cost-consequence analysis of a psychogeriatric day center. *Rev. Esp. Geriatr. Gerontol.* **37(6)**, 291–297 (2002).
- Baumgarten, M., Lebel, P., Laprise, Hé., Leclerc, C. & Quinn, C. Adult Day Care for the Frail Elderly. *J. Aging Health* 14, 237–259 (2002).
- 215. Donaldson, C. & Gregson, B. Prolonging life at home: What is the cost? J. Public Heal. (United Kingdom) **11**, 200–209 (1989).
- Gaugler, J. E., Zarit, S. H., Townsend, A., Parris Stephens, M. -a. & Greene, R. Evaluating Community-Based Programs for Dementia Caregivers: The Cost Implications of Adult Day Services. J. Appl. Gerontol. 22, 118–133 (2003).
- 217. Hedrick, S. C. *et al.* Summary and Discussion of Methods and Results of the Adult Day Health Care Evaluation Study Source : Medical Care , Vol . 31 , No . 9 , Supplement : Adult Day Health Care Evaluation Study Published by : Lippincott Williams & Wilkins Stable URL : http://ww. **31**, (1993).
- 218. Zarit, S. H. & Stephens, M. A. P. Stress reduction for family caregivers: Effects of adult day care use. *Journals Gerontol. Ser. B Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci.* **53B**, S267 (1998).
- 219. Joling, K. J. *et al.* The cost-effectiveness of a family meetings intervention to prevent depression and anxiety in family caregivers of patients with dementia: a randomized trial. *Trials* **14**, 305 (2013).
- 220. Charlesworth, G. *et al.* Does befriending by trained lay workders improve psychological well-being and quality of life for carers of people with dementia. *Health Technol. Assess.* (*Rockv*). **12**, (2008).
- 221. Woods, R. T. *et al.* REMCARE: Pragmatic multi-centre randomised trial of reminiscence groups for people with dementia and their family carers: Effectiveness and economic analysis. *PLoS One* **11**, 1–19 (2016).
- 222. Office for National Statistics. *Deaths Registered in England and Wales (Series DR), 2015 (Statistical Bulletin).* (2016).
- 223. Health Challange Wales. Dementia. (2012).
- 224. Alzheimer's Society. *Risk Factors for Dementia Factsheet 450.* (2016).
- 225. Woods R, Brayne C, B. V. *Maintaining function and well-being in later life: a longitudinal cohort study (CFAS - WALES). Protocol.* (2010).
- 226. Statistics for Wales. 2011 Census : First Results on the Welsh Language Wales. *Natl. Stat. Stat. Bull.* **SB 118/201,** 1–13 (2012).
- 227. Welsh Government. National Survey for Wales, 2014-15 Welsh Language. *StatsWales Welsh Language Links* (2015).
- 228. Bialystok, E., Craik, F. I. M. & Freedman, M. Bilingualism as a protection against the onset of symptoms of dementia. *Neuropsychologia* **45**, 459–464 (2007).

- Bialystok, E., Craik, F. I. M., Binns, M. A., Ossher, L. & Freedman, M. Effects of bilingualism on the age of onset and progression of MCI and AD: Evidence from executive function tests. *Neuropsychology* 28, 290–304 (2014).
- 230. Clare, L. *et al.* Bilingualism, executive control, and age at diagnosis among people with early-stage Alzheimer's disease in Wales. *J. Neuropsychol.* **10**, 163–185 (2016).
- 231. Robinson, L., Hutchings, D. & Corner, L. A systematic literature review of the effectiveness of non-pharmacological interventions to prevent wandering in dementia and evaluation of the ethical. *Health Technol. Assess.* **10**, iii-108 (2006).
- 232. Sposaro, F., Danielson, J. & Tyson, G. IWander: An Android application for dementia patients. *2010 Annu. Int. Conf. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc. EMBC'10* 3875–3878 (2010). doi:10.1109/ IEMBS.2010.5627669
- 233. Andrén, S. & Elmståhl, S. Effective psychosocial intervention for family caregivers lengthens time elapsed before nursing home placement of individuals with dementia: A five year follow-up study. *Int. Psychogeriatrics* **20**, 1177–1192 (2008).
- 234. NICE. Dementia, disability and frailty in later life mid-life approaches to delay or prevent onset. (2015).
- 235. Welsh Government. Physical activity and health. (2017). Available at: http://gov.wales/topics/health/improvement/ physical/?lang=en. (Accessed: 22nd September 2017)
- Norton, S., Matthews, F. E., Barnes, D. E., Yaffe, K. & Brayne, C. Potential for primary prevention of Alzheimer's disease: An analysis of population-based data. *Lancet Neurol.* 13, 788–794 (2014).
- 237. Tomata, Y. *et al.* Changes in time spent walking and the risk of incident dementia in older Japanese people: The Ohsaki Cohort 2006 Study. *Age Ageing* **46**, 857–860 (2017).
- 238. van Baal, P. H. M., Hoogendoorn, M. & Fischer, A. Preventing dementia by promoting physical activity and the long-term impact on health and social care expenditures. *Prev. Med.* (*Baltim*). **85**, 78–83 (2016).
- 239. Knapp, M. *et al.* Cost effectiveness of a manual based coping strategy programme in promoting the mental health of family carers of people with dementia (the START (STrAtegies for RelaTives) study): a pragmatic randomised controlled trial. *Bmj* **347**, f6342–f6342 (2013).
- 240. Livingston, G. *et al.* START (STrAtegies for RelaTives) study: a pragmatic randomised controlled trial to determine the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of a manual-based coping strategy programme in promoting the mental health of carers of people with dementia. *Health Technol. Assess.* (*Rockv*). **18**, (2014).
- 241. Nichols, L. O. *et al.* The cost-effectiveness of a behavior intervention with caregivers of patients with Alzheimer's disease. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* **56**, 413–420 (2008).
- 242. Nichols, L. O. *et al.* Impact of the REACH II and REACH VA Dementia Caregiver Interventions on Health care Costs. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* 931–936 (2017). doi:10.1111/jgs.14716
- 243. NHS Choices. Falls. (2015).
- 244. Treml, J., Husk, J., Lowe, D. & Vasilakis, N. Falling standards, broken promises. Report of the national audit of falls and bone health in older people 2010. *R. Collge Physicians* (2011).

- 245. Jones, S. J. Injury Prevention Guidance 1 Falls Preventing falls in older people living in the community. (2011).
- 246. Alcock, D., Brook, C. D., Walker, D. & Hunt, C. Home care clients, providers and costs. *Can. J. Public Heal.* **89**, 297–300 (1998).
- 247. Summary, E. Falls : Factsheet. WHO 2010, 1921–1928 (2011).
- 248. Watson, W. L., Clapperton, A. J. & Mitchell, R. J. The cost of fall-related injuries among older people in NSW, 2006-07. *N. S. W. Public Health Bull.* **22**, 55–9 (2011).
- 249. Profound. Falls Prevention Intervention Factsheets. (2015).
- Li, F. & Harmer, P. Economic Evaluation of a Tai Ji Quan Intervention to Reduce Falls in People With Parkinson Disease, Oregon, 2008–2011. *Prev. Chronic Dis.* 12, 140413 (2015).
- 251. Hendriks, M. R. C. *et al.* Cost-effectiveness of a multidisciplinary fall prevention program in community-dwelling elderly people: A randomized controlled trial (ISRCTN 64716113). *Int. J. Technol. Assess. Health Care* **24**, 193–202 (2008).
- 252. Williams, N. H. *et al.* Fracture in the Elderly Multidisciplinary Rehabilitation (FEMuR): study protocol for a phase II randomised feasibility study of a multidisciplinary rehabilitation package following hip fracture [ISRCTN22464643]. *Pilot Feasibility Stud.* **1**, 13 (2015).
- 253. Wu, S., Keeler, E. B., Rubenstein, L. Z., Maglione, M. A. & Shekelle, P. G. A cost-effectiveness analysis of a proposed national falls prevention program. *Clin. Geriatr. Med.* **26**, 751–66 (2010).
- 254. Müller, D., Borsi, L., Stracke, C., Stock, S. & Stollenwerk, B. Cost-effectiveness of a multifactorial fracture prevention program for elderly people admitted to nursing homes. *Eur. J. Heal. Econ.* (2014). doi:10.1007/s10198-014-0605-5
- Farag, I., Howard, K., Ferreira, M. L. & Sherrington, C. Economic modelling of a public health programme for fall prevention. *Age Ageing* 44, 409–414 (2015).
- Eldridge, S. *et al.* Why modelling a complex intervention is an important precursor to trial design: lessons from studying an intervention to reduce falls-related injuries in older people. *J. Health Serv. Res. Policy* **10**, 133–42 (2005).
- 257. Bentley, T. G., Kuntz, K. M. & Ringel, J. S. Bias associated with failing to incorporate dependence on event history in Markov models. *Med. Decis. Mak.* **30**, 651–660 (2010).
- 258. NICE. Falls: assessment and prevention of falls in older people CG161 (Costing statement). Nice (2013).
- Davis, J. C., Robertson, M. C., Comans, T. & Scuffham, P. A. Guidelines for conducting and reporting economic evaluation of fall prevention strategies. *Osteoporos. Int.* 22, 2449–2459 (2011).
- Gillespie, L. D. et al. Interventions for preventing falls in older people living in the community (Review). Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2, (John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2012).
- Jenkyn, K. B., Hoch, J. S. & Speechley, M. How Much Are We Willing to Pay to Prevent A Fall? Cost-Effectiveness of a Multifactorial Falls Prevention Program for Community-Dwelling Older Adults. *Can. J. Aging / La Rev. Can. du Vieil.* **31**, 121–137 (2012).
- Johansson, P., Sadigh, S., Tillgren, P. & Rehnberg, C. Non-pharmaceutical prevention of hip fractures – a cost-effectiveness analysis of a community-based elderly safety promotion program in Sweden. *Cost Eff. Resour. Alloc.* 6, 11 (2008).

- 263. Irvine, L. *et al.* Cost-effectiveness of a day hospital falls prevention programme for screened community-dwelling older people at high risk of falls. *Age Ageing* **39**, 710–716 (2010).
- 264. Haines, T. P. *et al.* Cost effectiveness of patient education for the prevention of falls in hospital: economic evaluation from a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Med.* **11**, 135 (2013).
- 265. Ling, S. J. *et al.* Can Geriatric Hip Fractures be Managed Effectively Within a Level 1 Trauma Center? *J. Orthop. Trauma* **29**, 160–164 (2015).
- 266. van Haastregt, J. C. M. *et al.* Cost-Effectiveness of an Intervention To Reduce Fear of Falling. *Int. J. Technol. Assess. Health Care* **29**, 219–226 (2013).
- Durstine, J. L., Gordon, B., Wang, Z. & Luo, X. Chronic disease and the link to physical activity. *J. Sport Heal. Sci.* 2, 3–11 (2013).
- 268. MacAuley, D., Bauman, A. & Frémont, P. Exercise: not a miracle cure, just good medicine. *BMJ* **350**, h1416 (2015).
- 269. Murphy, S. M. *et al.* An evaluation of the effectiveness and cost effectiveness of the National Exercise Referral Scheme in Wales, UK: a randomised controlled trial of a public health policy initiative...[corrected][published erratum appears in J EPIDEMIOL COMMUNITY HEALTH 201. *J. Epidemiol. Community Heal.* **66**, 745–753 9p (2012).
- 270. Davis, J. C. *et al.* International comparison of cost of falls in older adults living in the community: A systematic review. *Osteoporos. Int.* **21,** 1295–1306 (2010).
- Sherrington, C. *et al.* Effective exercise for the prevention of falls: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* 56, 2234–2243 (2008).
- 272. Page, T. F., Batra, A. & Palmer, R. Cost Analysis of a Community-Based Fall Prevention Program Being Delivered in South Florida. *Fam. Community Health* **35**, 264–270 (2012).
- Fletcher, E., Goodwin, V. A., Richards, S. H., Campbell, J. L. & Taylor, R. S. An exercise intervention to prevent falls in Parkinson's: an economic evaluation. *BMC Health Serv. Res.* **12**, 426 (2012).
- McLean, K., Day, L. & Dalton, A. Economic evaluation of a group-based exercise program for falls prevention among the older community-dwelling population. *BMC Geriatr.* 15, 33 (2015).
- 275. Farag, I. *et al.* Economic evaluation of a falls prevention exercise program among people With Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* **31**, 53–61 (2016).
- Tannenbaum, C. *et al.* Sedative-Hypnotic Medicines and Falls in Community-Dwelling Older Adults: A Cost-Effectiveness (Decision-Tree) Analysis from a US Medicare Perspective. *Drugs and Aging* **32**, 305–314 (2015).
- 277. Frick, K. D., Kung, J. Y., Parrish, J. M. & Narrett, M. J. Evaluating the cost-effectiveness of fall prevention programs that reduce fall-related hip fractures in older adults. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* 58, 136–141 (2010).
- 278. Lee, R. H., Weber, T. & Colon-Emeric, C. Comparison of cost-effectiveness of vitamin d screening with that of universal supplementation in preventing falls in community-dwelling older adults. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* (2013). doi:10.1111/jgs.12213
- 279. Munro, J. F. Cost effectiveness of a community based exercise programme in over 65 year olds: cluster randomised trial. *J. Epidemiol. Community Heal.* **58**, 1004–1010 (2004).

- 280. Ling, C. *et al.* Cost benefit considerations of preventing elderly falls through environmental modifications to homes in Hana, Maui. *Hawaii Med. J.* **67**, 65–68 (2008).
- 281. Foundations. Handyperson Services Financial Benefits Toolkit Full Guidance 2013. (2013).
- 282. Latimer, N., Dixon, S., Drahota, A. K. & Severs, M. Cost–utility analysis of a shock-absorbing floor intervention to prevent injuries from falls in hospital wards for older people. *Age Ageing* **42**, 641–645 (2013).
- 283. Thomas, E., Mottram, S., Peat, G., Wilkie, R. & Croft, P. The effect of age on the onset of pain interference in a general population of older adults: Prospective findings from the North Staffordshire Osteoarthritis Project (NorStOP). *Pain* **129**, 21–27 (2007).
- 284. Spink, M. J. *et al.* Effectiveness of a multifaceted podiatry intervention to prevent falls in community dwelling older people with disabling foot pain: randomised controlled trial. *Bmj* **342**, d3411–d3411 (2011).
- 285. Cockayne, S. *et al.* Clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of a multifaceted podiatry intervention for falls prevention in older people: A multicentre cohort randomised controlled trial (the reducing falls with orthoses and a multifaceted podiatry intervention trial). *Health Technol. Assess.* (*Rockv*). **21**, (2017).
- 286. Wylie, G. *et al.* Podiatry intervention versus usual care to prevent falls in care homes: pilot randomised controlled trial (the PIRFECT study). *BMC Geriatr.* **17**, 143 (2017).
- 287. NICE. NICE clinical guideline 161. Falls: Assessment and prevention of falls in older people. **161**, (2013).
- 288. Winckler, V. & Donnelly, M. Out of sight: Visual impairment and poverty in Wales. (2012).
- 289. Welsh Government. Welsh Health Survey 2015: Health status, illnesses, and other conditions. (2016).
- 290. Legood, R., Scuffham, P. & Cryer, C. Are we blind to injuries in the visually impaired? A review of the literature. *Inj. Prev.* **8**, 155–160 (2002).

- 291. Scuffham, P. A., Legood, R., Wilson, E. C. F. & Kennedy-Martin, T. The incidence and cost of injurious falls associated with visual impairment in the UK. *Vis. Impair. Res.* **4**, 1–14 (2002).
- 292. Access Economics. Future sight loss UK (1): The economic impact of partial sight and blindness in the UK adult population. (2009).
- 293. Cumming, R. G. *et al.* Improving vision to prevent falls in frail older people: A randomized trial. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* **55**, 175–181 (2007).
- 294. Sach, T. H. *et al.* Falls and health status in elderly women following first eye cataract surgery: a randomised controlled trial. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* **91**, 1675–1679 (2007).
- 295. Busbee, B. G., Brown, M. M., Brown, G. C. & Sharma, S. Cost-Utility Analysis of Cataract Surgery in the Second Eye. *Ophthalmology* **110**, 2310–2317 (2003).
- 296. Frampton, G., Harris, P., Cooper, K., Lotery, A. & Shepherd, J. The clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of second-eye cataract surgery: a systematic review and economic evaluation. *Health Technol. Assess. (Rockv).* **18**, (2014).
- 297. Cooper, K., Shepherd, J., Frampton, G., Harris, P. & Lotery, A. The cost-effectiveness of second-eye cataract surgery in the UK. *Age Ageing* **44**, 1026–1031 (2015).
- 298. RNIB. Sight loss advisers: social return on health and social care investment. (2014).
- 299. Singh, P. S. Economic Impact of an Eye Clinic Liaison Officer (ECLO) on Health, Social Care and Welfare Budgets: A Case Study. (2013).
- 300. Alwan, M. Fall Prevention and Detection : How Can Technology Help ? *Altern. care. Purch. Prod.* **1**, 12–14 (2007).
- Kang, H. G. *et al.* In situ monitoring of health in older adults: Technologies and issues. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* 58, 1579–1586 (2010).
- Spetz, J., Jacobs, J. & Hatler, C. Cost effectiveness of a medical vigilance system to reduce patient falls. *Nurs. Econ.* 25, 333–338,352 (2007).
- 303. Kindig, D. & Stoddart, G. What is population health? *Am J Pub Heal.* **93**, 366–369 (2003).

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Public Health Wales for commissioning this report and Dr Alisha Davies, Head of Research and Development at Public Health Wales, and Sue Mably who have both assisted in the production of this report.

We acknowledge the support of our colleagues at CHEME; Alison Shaw, and Non Gash for providing reading support and Eira Winrow, Sayed Ramin Ziwary and Rafi Abul Hasnath for providing research support. We are grateful to have received funding from the Bangor Employability Award Undergraduate Internship Scheme to appoint Ellen Gilliver as a communications and impact intern and for her assistance with development of infographics for this report. We also thank the reviewers who provided feedback on a draft of our report.

We would like to thank members of Age Alliance Wales and the Cymru Older People's Alliance (COPA) who responded to our call for economic evidence across Wales.

We acknowledge associates who have advised us during the development of this report:

- Alan Hatton-Yeo (MBE), Consultant, Cymru Older People's Alliance (COPA) and Volunteering matters
- Bob Woods, Emeritus Professor, Dementia Services Development Centre (DSDC), Bangor University
- Carys Jones, research Fellow, Centre for Health Economics and Medicines Evaluation (CHEME), Bangor University
- Ceri Jackson, Director of Royal National Institute of Blind People Cymru, Chair of Age Alliance
 Wales
- Charles Musselwhite, Associate Professor in Gerontology, Centre for Innovative Ageing, Swansea University
- Claire Turner, Director of Evidence, Centre for Ageing Better
- Guy Robertson, Founding director of Positive Ageing Associates
- Iwan Williams, Local Government and Wellbeing Lead, Older People's Commissioner for Wales' office
- Martin Hyde, Associate Professor, Centre for Innovative Ageing, Swansea University
- Nefyn Williams, Professor of General Practice / Co-director of North Wales Centre for Primary Care Research, Bangor University
- Paul Nash, Associate Professor, Centre for Innovative Ageing, Swansea University
- Richard Williams, Chief Executive, Action on Hearing Loss Cymru
- Sarah Hillcoat-Nalletamby, Associated Professor, Centre for Innovative Ageing, Swansea
 University
- Vanessa Burholt, Director Centre for Innovative Ageing, Swansea University

Graphic design by Excellent Design <u>www.excellentcreative.co.uk</u>

Funded by Public Health Wales

Public Health Wales is an NHS organisation providing professionally independent public health advice and services to protect and improve the health and wellbeing of the population of Wales. Production of this report was funded by Public Health Wales. **However, the views in this report are entirely those of the authors and should not be assumed to be the same as those of Public Health Wales.** Health Wales.

About the authors



Professor Rhiannon Tudor Edwards

Rhiannon is Professor of Health Economics and Co-Director of CHEME. She is a graduate of the University of Wales, Aberystwyth, University of Calgary, Canada, and The University of York. Rhiannon was a Commonwealth Fund Harkness Fellow in Health Policy, visiting the United States 2004-05. She is a Health and Care Research Wales Senior Investigator, Fellow of the Learned Society of Wales and Honorary Member of the Faculty of Public Health. Rhiannon is Director of the Welsh Health Economics Support Service (WHESS), integral to health and social care research in Wales. She has a particular interest in the methodology of economic evaluation alongside trials of public health and psychosocial interventions.

Dr Llinos Haf Spencer

Llinos is a Research Officer at CHEME and a Research Officer for LLAIS (Language Awareness Infrastructure Support) for NWORTH Clinical Trials Unit at Bangor University. She has a degree (1995) and PhD (2000) in Psychology from The University of Liverpool and has worked as a Teaching Fellow and Research Officer on various health related research projects at Bangor University since 1999 including studies on cancer follow-up, type-1 diabetes in children, end of life care, Welsh language awareness in healthcare, and Welsh language transmission within the family). She has a particular interest in the health and wellbeing of people living in Wales.





Lucy Bryning

Lucy is a Research Officer in Health Economics at CHEME. She has a 1st Class BSc (Hons) and a Masters by Research, both in Psychology. Alongside her work, Lucy is undertaking a PhD in Health Economics exploring the economics of Mindfulness Based Interventions. Her research interests include the evaluation of complex public health programmes and psychosocial interventions.

Bethany Fern Anthony

Bethany Fern Anthony has a 1st Class BSc (Hons) in Sport, Health and Physical Education and an MSc (with Distinction) in Exercise Rehabilitation. During her MSc, funded by a Knowledge Economy Skills Scholarships (KESS), she assessed aerobic fitness and cardiovascular risk among older patients with rheumatoid arthritis. She is now undertaking her PhD in Healthcare Sciences and exploring role substitution in primary care, funded by Health and Care Research Wales. Her PhD is exploring the provision of general medical services by non-medical health professionals such as advanced nurse practitioners, pharmacists and physiotherapists in primary care.



About the Centre for Health Economics and Medicines Evaluation (CHEME), Bangor University

Founded in 2001, CHEME are now one of the leading health economics centres in the UK. CHEME contributed to Bangor University's highest ranked unit of assessment in the 2014 Research Excellence Framework, with 95% of outputs being world leading and internationally excellent. Research outputs were rated 3rd out of 94 institutions across the UK. At CHEME, we aim to promote and sustain high-quality research, maximise opportunities for research grant capture and publications in high impact journals.

The Centre is active across a range of health economic and medicines evaluation research activities spanning public health economics and the health economics of psychosocial interventions and

other non-pharmacological health technologies, led by Professor Rhiannon Tudor Edwards, and Pharmacoeconomics, pharmaceutical policy and medicines use, led by Professor Dyfrig Hughes.

For more information about CHEME visit

http://cheme.bangor.ac.uk/







ISBN: 978-1-84220-156-5

Centre for Health Economics and Medicines Evaluation Ardudwy Hall, Normal Site, Bangor University, Bangor, Gwynedd, LL57 2PZ Phone: 01248 382153